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Monday, November 7, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of the application EB-2011-0054 submitted by Hydro Ottawa Limited for an order or orders approving rates for the distribution of electricity to be effective January 1, 2012.

My name is Marika Hare, and I'll be the Presiding Member in this hearing.  Joining me on the Panel is Board Member Ken Quesnelle.

On November 4, the Board issued a decision and procedural order accepting the settlement agreement proposed by parties.  That procedural order listed the issues for which there was not a full settlement and issues which were not settled.

This hearing will provide the Board and parties with an opportunity to more fully examine the applicant's evidence on the unsettled issues.

May I take appearances, please?
Appearances


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Mr. Quesnelle.  Fred Cass for Hydro Ottawa Limited.  Scott Stoll will also be counsel for Hydro Ottawa Limited.  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for School Energy Coalition.  I'd also like to put in an appearance for Jay Shepherd, who will be joining us later.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt, counsel for the Board.  And with me I have Violet Binette, case manager, as well as Silvan Cheung and Tina Li from Board Staff.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada, and I'd like to enter an appearance for Mr. Robert Warren, who will be here later today.

MS. DeJULIO:  Gia DeJulio with Enersource Hydro Mississauga Inc.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken for the Energy Probe Research Foundation.  With me is Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. GRUE:  Mike Grue with Ottawa Hydro.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  I think the remaining people in the room, Madam Chair, are probably witnesses who will be introduced in due course, or are otherwise spectators.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Are there any other appearances, then?  Thank you.  Okay, are there preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters


MS. HELT:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  There are just one or two preliminary matters.

My understanding is that the parties have entered into a further proposed supplementary settlement agreement with respect to some of the issues relating to IFRS.  Mr. Cass has indicated to me that he will speak to that, and he also has for the Panel a list setting out the various witness panels - there will be four witness panels - and the issues which each witness panel will address will be indicated to you by Mr. Cass.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  I thought it would be helpful, perhaps, to the Board if, by way of opening, I were to address the two documents that have been handed up to you.

The first of the two --


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, I don't think they've been handed up.

MR. CASS:  Oh, perhaps they have not been handed up.  I'm sorry.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  We will mark these two documents, and Ms. Binette will provide them to you.  The first will be the witness panel and issues list, Exhibit M1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.1:  WITNESS PANEL AND ISSUES LIST.

MS. HELT:  And the proposed supplementary settlement agreement will be marked as M1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.2:  PROPOSED SUPPLEMENTARY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, as you have already mentioned, there is a settlement proposal that has been accepted by the Board.  Coming out of that accepted settlement proposal, there are a number of unsettled or incompletely settled issues.

It does require some analysis to put together from that a hearing list of issues, so to speak.  Some of the issues are unsettled because they are contingent on other issues.

The purpose of Exhibit M1.1 was an attempt to give the roadmap -- the Board a roadmap of the issues going to hearing coming out of the main settlement proposal, without yet taking into account Exhibit M1.2, which I will come to.

There are logistical problems of pulling together this in the fashion that became necessary as discussions were going on around the supplementary settlement, so I must apologize.  There is an error in Exhibit M1.1 that I should bring to your attention.

Under the modified IFRS issues, there is mention of an issue with respect to a deferral account related to the opening balance sheet adjustment for pensions.  That in itself is not an error.  It would be affected by the supplementary settlement document which I will come to, but there is also an issue around a second deferral account related to modified IFRS.  It's a deferral account for asset disposals.  That should have been in this document.

The purpose of Exhibit M1.1 was to reflect the issues coming out of the main settlement proposal, and that was not reflected in here.

Now, subject to that, there is then the supplementary settlement document.  That's Exhibit M1.2.  The parties worked on this in an effort to narrow in scope the modified IFRS issues for the Board.  If the Board were to accept this supplementary settlement agreement, it would then affect the scoping under modified IFRS in Exhibit M1.1, which was reflecting the main settlement document.

So, for example, the deferral account that is referred to in M1.1 actually would be a settled issue if the Board were to accept M1.2.

I apologize that that became as complicated as it did.  Again, the intent of M1.1 was to give the Board a roadmap.  My suggestion would be that if the Board does accept the supplementary settlement proposal, that maybe the roadmap could be redone at that time to reflect a settlement.

As far as the supplementary settlement is concerned, modified IFRS will not be addressed until I think it's the last witness panel of the hearing.  So at least as far as the applicant is concerned, we don't see that it needs to be addressed immediately; that we would leave that with the Board to determine whether the supplementary proposal is acceptable, and hopefully to advise parties sometime before we come to the final witness panel.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The Panel will concern it over the lunch break, with a view to having a decision after lunch.

Is there anything else, Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  No, there's nothing further.

MR. CASS:  With that, Madam Chair, Mr. Stoll actually will --


MS. HARE:  Lead the first --


MR. CASS:  Lead the first witness panel, and I'll excuse myself temporarily.  Thank you.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  And the first panel is going to deal with the working capital allowance, and I'd like to have the two witnesses, Ms. Scott and Mr. Subbakrishna come up and take their spot.

And while they're doing that, I'd like to file the CV for Mr. Subbakrishna as an exhibit, and I'll give that to my friend.

MS. HARE:  We will mark the CV of Mr. Subbakrishna as M1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.3:  CV OF MR. NAGENDRA SUBBAKRISHNA.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Are the witnesses prepared to be sworn?

MS. STOLL:  I believe they are.
HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED - PANEL 1

Jane Scott, Sworn


Nagendra Subbakrishna, Sworn

Examination by Mr. Stoll


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  I'll start with Ms. Scott.  Can you give your name and position with the company?

MS. SCOTT:  Jane Scott, manager of rates and revenue for Hydro Ottawa Limited.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And were you involved in the preparation of the evidence regarding the working capital allowance?

MS. SCOTT:  I was.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you have any changes or updates to that evidence?

MS. SCOTT:  I do not.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you adopt the prefiled evidence and the responses to the interrogatories --


MS. SCOTT:  I do.

MR. STOLL:  -- as your evidence here?

MS. SCOTT:  I do.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.

Okay.  And can you provide a summary of the Hydro Ottawa Limited evidence in respect of working capital allowance?

MS. SCOTT:  I can.

And my understanding of the issue is whether our methodology for calculating the working capital of 14.2 percent is appropriate.

Just a bit of history.  We -- until 2008, Hydro Ottawa used the Board-prescribed 15 percent for working capital.  In our 2008 cost of service application, which we settled, as part of the whole settlement package, we agreed to 12.5 percent, which was actually based on the Toronto Hydro working capital at that time.

But for this cost of service application, we did do a lead-lag study.  Staff at Hydro Ottawa Limited did the study, and then had a consultant review it for completeness and accuracy.

What we used was a standard methodology, from -- we looked at other lead-lag studies and used a standard methodology for the service lag and the expense leads.

Service lag, we used the weighted customer weight for our service lag.  For billing lag and collection lag, we used a distribution revenue weighting.

So what we looked at what 2009 and 2010 actual data, and came up with a -- actually, a working capital allowance of 13.7 percent.  But we had not included HST in the 2010 data, in order to have a sort of -- comparing apples to apples for 2009 and 2010.  So then, taking that result, we looked at what were going to be material changes in 2012 for the test year, and the HST was really the only material change, so we adjusted the working capital allowance from -- average from 2009 and 2010 for HST, and that's how we got the 14.2 percent.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Thank you.

And if I could have Mr. Subbakrishna provide his name and his position.

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Nagendra Subbakrishna.  I'm an associate director in energy with the firm of Navigant Consulting.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  If the panel -- I would like to have Mr. Subbakrishna qualified as an expert in respect of the lead-lag studies.  I can walk through his CV if you'd like, or he has testified before in respect of lead-lags.  We can, subject to anybody's objection, accept him on that basis.

MS. HARE:  Are there any objections to Mr. Subbakrishna being considered an expert witness?

Please proceed, Mr. Stoll.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Thank you.

And Mr. Subbakrishna, can you just provide a description of your role in the preparation of this evidence?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Well, we were retained by Hydro Ottawa to perform an independent review of the study that they did in-house.

And pursuant to our review, we concluded that the company's study was complete in terms of, you know, the revenue and expense items that were considered in the calculation, in the ultimate calculation of working capital.

And a further review indicated that it was generally consistent with studies that have been performed by other utilities, that have either been accepted by the Board or have been filed with the Board.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Thank you.

And the review that you are referring to is the June -- is captured in the June 3rd, 2011 letter to Ms. Scott from --


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Thank you.

And do you have anything that you would like to change or add to the views expressed in that letter?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  At this time, no.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And just before we turn it over, is there anything that you would like to add or update the Panel on in respect --


MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  I'd just like to correct something that I said earlier.

I said weighted by distribution revenue.  It's actually by sales revenue, on the billing lag and the collection lag.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  And with that, I'm done the examination-in-chief and will turn them over to cross.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I understand, Mr. Aiken, you'll be going first?

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken

Panel, my name is Randy Aiken.  I'm here as a consultant to Energy Probe.

First, I have a compendium that I'll be referring to, so we should have that marked as an exhibit.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  We can mark that as Exhibit M1.4, the Energy Probe compendium of documents.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.4:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm going to be starting off in general terms.

Would you agree that the purpose of a lead-lag study is to determine the amount of time it takes for a utility to realize revenues from its customers compared with the amount of time of the same utility to pay its vendors, and to the extent that there is a difference between the two, that results in a working capital requirement which has to be funded by investors?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. AIKEN:  Would it be fair to say that the lead-lag study deals with cash flow needs?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I also correct that there are two main periods that are being analyzed in the lead-lag study, the first being the expense lead and the second being a revenue lag?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And the expense lead measures the time from when the company receives the service to when it pays for it?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And the revenue lag measures the time from the company providing a service to when it receives payment for it?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I want to start by making sure I understand how the expense leads are calculated.

If you could turn to page 25 of the compendium, which my assistant is about to bring up here, on page 25 you find a page from the lead-lag study in your evidence.  And in particular, I'm looking at section 3.2.2.  That deals with consulting and contracts.

This section describe a number of different types of services received by Hydro Ottawa, ranging from consulting and legal costs to rental and lease payments, regulatory assessments, to memberships and professional dues.

Now, the evidence describes how the payment lead time is calculated.  To my understanding, that it is vendor-specific, generally between 15 and 30 days; have I got that right?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And then in coming up with the weighted payment lead times, you have a weighted number of days; is that also correct?

MS. SCOTT:  Weighted, yes, by the value of the contract, is my understanding.

MR. AIKEN:  So it's weighted by dollars, not --


MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, what I don't see in the explanation provided by the evidence is how the service lead is calculated.  I assume that not all vendors provide monthly invoices or monthly services.  Some may invoice you quarterly or annually; is that correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So when you come up with a weighted service lead -- sorry, a weighted service lead number of days, are the weights that are used the same as used for the payment lead?  In other words, the dollars?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Typically the way this calculation is done is you take the vendor, look at the amount of time, say, in a year that the vendor -- or a month, or pick the time period.

Look at the amount of time that the vendor provided service.  An assumption is made that -- unless the information can be ascertained, quote-unquote, beyond a shadow of doubt, an assumption is made that service was provided evenly within the period over which the company received the service from that vendor.

That amount of time, or that mid-point, is then added to the time it took to pay that vendor.  The sum of those two are then weighted using dollars.

And my read of what is written here is that there are a lot of services that the company has received, say, for example, OEB cost assessments, IT maintenance contracts, insurance, et cetera, that are pre-paid.  So it could be possible that vendors get paid 30 days after.

Like, that's a typical standard contract term, which is net 30 days from the date of receipt of the invoice.

So you could have payment of 30 days, but these -- but when you layer on top of that these pre-paids, you could wind up with an average expense lead time of between eight -- seven to eight days.

I don't know whether that addresses the question.

MR. AIKEN:  I believe it does.

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  And then, just to confirm, so that this approach would be consistent, for example, with table 13 shown on page 25 of the compendium, which shows that the payroll and benefit expense lead is weighted by dollars for both the service and payment leads?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  I believe that would be true, though I do believe that -- excuse me a moment.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  I apologize for that.  The answer to your question, yes, it will be consistent with what is shown in table 13, though it's my understanding that Hydro Ottawa corrected certain typographical errors on table 13 in response to LT1.10.

MR. AIKEN:  And can you remind me what those corrections were?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  I believe it was basically the signs.  I mean, the service lead is shown as negative on...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. AIKEN:  If it helps, we have LT1.10 on the screen.

MS. SCOTT:  Yeah, we've got -- yeah.

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Good.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. SCOTT:  It might be best if we take an undertaking to explain the differences.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, that would be fine.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking L1.1.  Perhaps, Mr. Aiken, you can just reiterate the exact nature of the undertaking for the record.

MR. AIKEN:  To explain the differences in table 13 and the response to LT1.10 in terms of corrections or changes made.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. LT1.1:  TO EXPLAIN THE DIFFERENCES IN TABLE 13 AND THE RESPONSE TO LT1.10 IN TERMS OF CORRECTIONS OR CHANGES MADE.

MR. AIKEN:  Panel, I'm turning to the revenue lag now, so if you turn to pages 26 and 27 of the compendium, which are two pages from the lead-lag study.  Table 2 on page 26 shows that the revenue lag is made up of four components.  I'm sure you will not be surprised that I have a number of questions on two of these components, the service lag and the collection lag.

With respect to the service lag, tables 3 and 4 on these pages show the calculation of the lags of 30.24 and 30.24 days for both years.

And they're based on the average number of customers for monthly and bimonthly meter rates.  Have I accurately stated that?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And because the residential and GS less than 50 classes are read bimonthly, this gives them about 98 to 99 percent of the weighting in the calculations; correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, in an Energy Probe interrogatory, we asked you to provide the weighting for the service lag using sales dollars rather than customers.  The response was provided in Exhibit K2, issue 2.2, Interrogatory No. 5.  And I've included the relevant pages from this interrogatory response at pages 29 through 31 of the compendium.

First, I want to confirm that the pages shown on page 30 of the compendium are mislabelled.  I believe, Ms. Scott, you confirmed this in the technical conference?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  In table 3 and 4, where it says "customer weight", it should say "sales weighted."

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Yes,  and if I could speak for Ms. Scott, where it says "average number of customers", that should be sales dollars.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.  But it is -- and then "sales weighted", yes.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, just to understand, so it's the second column, after "Customer Type", "Average Number of Customers", that --


MS. SCOTT:  That should be sales for that class.  Sales dollars for that class.

MR. AIKEN:  And then the second-last column?

MS. SCOTT:  Should be "Sales Weighting".

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, instead of "customer weighting".

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. SCOTT:  The information from the tables is correct.  It was the heading that was incorrect.

MR. AIKEN:  Compared to the original tables 3 and 4 that showed a service lag of 30.24 days for both years, these tables show service lags of just over 22 days, which is a significant decline.

Can you explain to me why Hydro Ottawa believes customer weights are more appropriate than revenue weights in the calculation of the service lag?

MS. SCOTT:  The service lag is a measure of when the customer receives the service to when the meter has been read.  So at that point, the issue of dollars has not entered the equation.

So it's our opinion that weighing it by customer number is the most appropriate.

MR. AIKEN:  Could I have you turn to page 28 of the compendium?  This shows the calculation of the billing lag, And it is weighted by sales revenue and not customers.  Can you explain why this would be different than for the service lag?

MS. SCOTT:  At this point, when we're billing the -- so this is the lag between when the meter is read and when we're going to be billing, and when we are billing, we are billing for dollars.  So dollars have now been brought into the equation.

So it was felt that weighting by sales dollars was the most appropriate.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I also correct that the collection lag is dollar-weighted?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And what weight was used in the calculation of the payment processing and bank float lag?

MS. SCOTT:  Dollars, again, were used, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  On page 3 of the lead-lag study -- and, I apologize, this is not in the compendium.  It's at Exhibit B4, tab 2, schedule 1, again, page 3.  There is table 1 labelled "Revenue Lag" that calculates an overall weighted revenue lag that includes the revenues from three sources, those sources being the rate classes that we've been -- just been discussing, revenues from services to retailers and revenues from other sources.

As I understand these other sources, these other sources include things like pole and duct rentals and revenues for miscellaneous work; is that correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I also correct that in table 1, Hydro Ottawa has used dollars to weight these three sources of revenues to calculate the overall revenue lag?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  In the calculation of the service lag for the revenue from services to retailers -- this is table 9 in the lead-lag study -- it shows 15.21 days for both years.  And then for the revenues from other sources, which is table 10, it shows 31.47 and 23.01 days.

Was a weighting of some sort required for either or both of these calculations?

MS. SCOTT:  For the revenue lag from services to retailers, no, there was not a weighting for the service lag.

For the revenue lag from other sources, I think we'd have to look at the response to K2-2-5(c).  Sorry, that's not it.

My understanding is there is not a weighting on the revenue lag from other sources.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

If you could turn to page 32 of the compendium, there is a table there, labelled "Service lag calculation illustrative example."

And I want to lead you through this very simplified example.

What we have here is two classes, class 1 and class 2.

Class 1 has 99 customers that pay a dollar per billing period, generating revenues of $99, and they're billed bimonthly.

Class 2, there's one customer that generates revenue of $99 and is billed monthly.

Do you accept, subject to check, that using the number of customers as weights yields a service lag of 30.248 days, as shown on the "customer weighted lag" column?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  The math seems correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And similarly, based on a revenue weighting, the service lag would be 22.8 days?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Again, the math would be correct.

MR. AIKEN:  If we ignore the billing, collecting and payment processing lags, for simplicity, and assume that Hydro Ottawa received payment at the end of the service period, does the use of the customer weighted lag not imply that Hydro Ottawa gets its money on average 30.248 days after the midpoint of the service period?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  I believe it was mentioned that the whole purpose of trying to calculate a service lag is to determine the time period between when service began and the time period when service ended and the meter was read.

And I believe the phrase "the issue of dollars hasn't entered the equation yet" was also alluded to.

So keeping that in mind, I would say that, in response to your question, the 30.248 days is an accurate representation of the service lag in this hypothetical two-class example.

MR. AIKEN:  But you're saying it has nothing to do with when the company gets its money?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  At this point, no.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, if the monthly and bimonthly billing were reversed in this example, so that now class 1 is billed monthly with a corresponding service lag of 15.2 days, and class 2 is billed bimonthly with a corresponding service lag of 30.4 days, would you take, subject to check, that the customer weighted lag is 15.352 days and the revenue weighted lag remains at 22.8?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  That would be correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, in both scenarios, you get -- if we added one day for a billing and collection lag, in both scenarios, you get the same amount of money at the same time; is that correct?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that example?  If you add it?

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  You're getting the same amount of money at the same time.  You're getting half your revenue after 15.2 days, and you're getting the other half of your money after 30.4 days.

MS. SCOTT:  This was -- your question is based on your assumption that you get paid at the end of the service lag?

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  For simplicity, I'm ignoring the collection and billing lags.

MS. SCOTT:  So -- sorry, so repeat your question, then, again?

MR. AIKEN:  Under both scenarios, you're getting half your money after 15.2 days and you're getting the other half of your money after 30.4 days, assuming payment is provided to you at the end of the service lag, in both cases?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCOTT:  If you accept your assumptions, then, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And if you don't accept the assumptions and assume that some of your collection, billing and payment lags are 30 days, on top of the service lag, just for ease of calculation, then you're going to get half your money after 45.2 days and the other half of your money after 60.4 days?

MS. SCOTT:  Again, if you accept your assumption, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I'm going to move on to the calculation of the collection lag now, if you could pull up both pages 30 and 33 of the compendium.  And I'm going to be going back and forth between these two.

The first reference, page 30, provides an explanation, beginning at line 5, of how the collection lag has been calculated.  And as part of that explanation, it refers to tables 7 and 8 and bucket data.  I have included these tables on page 33 of the compendium.

These tables show the amount of the receivables outstanding in each month, broken down by the number of days outstanding.

So each column is essentially a bucket that shows the dollar value outstanding for each month by the age of the receivable; have I got that correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, if we turn back to page 30, while keeping page 33 in front of you -- my assistant is going to have problems.

There's an example at the bottom of the page that adds the buckets together to get the 57,465 that is also the number shown in the total column in table 7 on page 33.  This is for the month of January 2009.

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, page 31 of the compendium has a formula used to calculate the collection lag at lines 6 and 7.  And then -- followed by a numerical example at line 11.

First, the numerical example shows a calculation of the 26.38 days shown in table 7 on page 33, again for the month of January 2009.

That's where the 26.38 is calculated; correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That shows how the 26.38 was calculated, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the formula at lines 5 and 6 -- or, sorry, 6 and 7, does not appear to be the same formula used at line 11; is that correct?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, it's -- so the total DSO buckets is the 57,465, the days in the month is the 31, and the sales for that month is the 67,524.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, but my understanding of lines 6 and 7 is you take the total DSO bucket, divide it by the product of the days of the month and the sales for that month; whereas line 11 says something different.  It says take the total DSO bucket, divide by sales for that month, and then multiply that figure by the days of the month.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCOTT:  I think it's a case of brackets.  Line 6 is -- should be total DSO buckets for that month, and then if -- I mean, it doesn't make a difference to the math, but you put a bracket around the 31 and the 67,524.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, I beg to differ, but I believe the math does change.  The lines -- the formula at lines 6 and 7 says take 57,465 and divide by 31 times 67,524.  That's going to give you a number less than one.


I guess the only point I want to make here is that line 11, the numerical example is calculated right, despite the formula shown at lines 6 and 7.


MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  I...


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  I think resolution of this issue would be complete if on lines 6 and 7 it had said:  Total DSO buckets divided by sales for that month, close paren -- open and close paren, times number of days in the month.


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.  Yes.


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  But the 26.38 days is still accurate.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  The calculation, the numerical example, is correct?


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Right.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


So am I correct that this formula is completely independent of what buckets the receivables are included in?


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  That would be correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, don't you think the age of the receivables should be taken into account in the calculation of the collection lag?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCOTT:  I would agree that would be another way of doing it, but we've chosen -- Hydro Ottawa has chosen to do it this way and feels it's the most appropriate method for us.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then consider the following example.


If you look at tables 7 and 8 again on page 33 and look at January 2009, where we had come up with the 57,465 total of all the buckets, you're saying that if all of that receivable, the entire 57,465, were in the first bucket of 1 to 17 days, the days outstanding would still be 26.38?


MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Doesn't that strike you as being a little bit odd?  You have no receivables over 17 days old, and yet you're using a weighting factor of 26-and-change on that.


MS. SCOTT:  I think my response would be -- but this -- we don't have 57,465 in 1 to 17 days.  This data is coming straight out of our CIS system.  This is our actual days sales outstanding in January 2009.


MR. AIKEN:  So my question is:  Why do you bother breaking it into these buckets when you then ignore the buckets and look at the barrel only?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCOTT:  This is our -- this is how the information is produced from the CIS, and it is our standard operating procedure.


MR. AIKEN:  If I could have you turn to pages 34 through 37 of the compendium?  This is a response to undertaking LT1.2.


Just before we go there, Mr. Subbakrishna, with your experience in lead-lag studies, does Hydro Ottawa's calculation of the collection lag make sense to you?  And by that, I mean not weighting.


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  You mean by using the DSO methodology?


MR. AIKEN:  Not the methodology, but the lack of a weighting of the different buckets of the age of the receivables.


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  In the letter that I provided to Hydro Ottawa, I did mention that I had some concerns with the use of a days sales outstanding approach, calculating how old the receivables are, and, by how old your receivables are, in theory, should be indicative of, you know, how much money the customers owe you that you haven't been paid for yet.


Let me draw up a couple of footnotes to why I express that concern.


First of all, you should keep in mind that, you know, whether you're a pizza -- whether you're a pizza maker or a distribution utility, a standard metric -- or, for that matter, a consulting company, a standard metric of, you know, how efficient you are in collecting money from your customers is days sales outstanding.  So in that respect, a DSO would make sense.


But does a DSO actually truly measure the amount of time it takes you to be made whole from what customers owe you?  I would beg to differ on that.  I think that the DSO is lacking, because it weights every bucket equally.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.


Now turning back to LT1.2, I had asked in that undertaking for Ottawa to provide revised calculations for tables 7 and 8 that reflected the dollar-weighted average of days outstanding using the midpoint of each of the buckets shown.


Now, Hydro Ottawa did provide those calculations at the table at the bottom of page 36 and on page 37.  However, I want to concentrate on the table for 2009 shown on page 35 and the table for 2010 shown at the top of page 36.


Am I correct that these tables reflect the midpoint methodology that Hydro Ottawa would use, if required, rather than what I had originally suggested?


MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And the difference is in the first bucket, where you have used 11.5 days rather than the midpoint of 8-1/2, and in the last bucket where, rather than using 150 days that I had suggested, you provided a further breakdown of that bucket into two parts, with days of 242.5 and 408.5; is that correct?


MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.  I think also in this LT we did say that we felt this was very conservative as a midpoint.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.   Now, you'll be happy that I can accept those changes as being reasonable in your response.  So when you recalculate the collection lag using the midpoint methodology, you come up with 24.88 days in 2009 and 21.39 days in 2010.


Now, do you accept that these are better estimates for the collection lags than the 25.47 and 25.36 days calculated using your original methodology?


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Let me draw up a footnote on that.
First of all, the so-called midpoint or the average age of dollars that is sitting in the 1- to 17-day bucket, using 11-1/2 days there -- where we know that the Distribution System Code in Ontario provides 16 days for customers to pay their bills, using 11-1/2 days there, in my opinion, is extremely conservative, and the end result of that, 24.88 days for 2009 and 21.39 days for 20010, I believe is really low-balling the answer.


That having been said, and in response to your question, the 24.88 and 21.39 are low-balled, but the calculation is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, do you have any evidence to back up your support that customers don't pay until 16 days after they get their bill?


MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Customers have 16 days to pay their bill.

MR. AIKEN:  Do any customers pay their bill before the due date?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  At this point in time and in...

[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCOTT:  We don't have data on how many pay before 16 days.  We know that some pay before 16 days and we know that others pay after the 16 days.  But they have 16 days to pay.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Okay.  If you could move on to page 38 of the compendium, on this page you will see that I have produced revised tables 2, 1, 24, 25 and 26 from your evidence.  I'm just going to quickly lead you through this and then ask you a question.

The only conceptual changes that have been made in table 2 is where the service lags and collection lags for 2009 and 2010 have been replaced by the figures from the interrogatory and undertaking responses noted just below the table; so in other words, Exhibit K2, Issue 2.2, Interrogatory No. 5, part (a).  That's for the service lag.  And the collection lag just from the undertaking LT1.2 we were just talking about.

These changes in table 2 then flow through into table 1.  Nothing else in table 1 has been changed other than the new lag days.

And then the revised table 1 numbers for the weighted revenue lag flow through into tables 24 and 25, and the output from those tables then flow through in table 26.

So subject to check, do you accept that the calculations are correct, using the number of days used?

MS. SCOTT:  I think we would have some issues with the calculation.

So my understanding is that you've replaced the service lag R-weighting with customer weight and you replaced it with service revenue weight; is that what you've done?

MR. AIKEN:  With the sales revenue weight, yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, sales revenue weighting.

So it's my understanding that if you've done that for the service lag, then you would not have to weight it again in table 1.

MR. AIKEN:  And why not?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, because you've already weighted based on service -- sales revenue weighting once.

MR. AIKEN:  But the results that come out of table 2 only affect the first item in table 1.  It doesn't affect your revenues from services to retailers or revenues from other sources, does it?  And you still need to come up with an overall weighted revenue lag?

Maybe I can leave this with you as an undertaking.

MS. SCOTT:  The other question I would have is in table 2 –- sorry.  Okay.  So table -- is the adjustment for the HST.  So what was your --


MR. AIKEN:  I've made no changes for the HST.

MS. SCOTT:  All right.  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  All I've done in tables 24, for example, under "Revenue lag days" you'll see 66.65.  That comes out of the 2009 weighted revenue lag in table 1, revised.  I have not made any changes for the HST or the capital expenses.

MS. SCOTT:  I think we would like to look it over before accepting it.

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  I think you're correct.  I mean, like, because there are a lot of moving parts here.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I realize that.

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  So, if you don't mind, I mean, could we take this as a formal undertaking and respond to it?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I would call it an undertaking to review and, if necessary, correct the calculations on page 38 of the Energy Probe compendium flowing out of the changes in table 2.

MS. HELT:  That would be Undertaking L1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. LT1.2:  TO REVIEW AND, IF NECESSARY, CORRECT CALCULATIONS ON PAGE 38 OF ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FLOWING OUT OF CHANGES IN TABLE 2.

MR. AIKEN:  Finally, if you could turn to page 39 of the compendium, this is an interrogatory response to Board Staff that indicates when Hydro Ottawa goes to monthly billing and it is fully implemented, the working cash allowance of 14.2 percent would fall to 9.6 percent.

Is this decrease the result of using the service lag of 15.2 days for all classes and no other changes beyond that?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you take it, subject to check, that if you also made the adjustment to the collection lag that comes out of Undertaking J1.2, that 9.6 percent would fall to 8.9 percent?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCOTT:  Subject to check, I assume the math is correct, but I would caution that you can't just change one thing.

There's a whole other side of the monthly billing in terms of the expenses, which would have to be changed, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  No, I agree on that.

One final topic that I have forgotten to raise.

Mr. Subbakrishna, in the Horizon proceeding, you raised the issue that if the service lags were changed for the monthly and bimonthly meter reading, that the collection lag calculations would have to be separated out between monthly and bimonthly customers, as well.  Do you recall that?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  In the Horizon proceeding, I believe -- and you have to excuse me, I don't know the exact words that we used over there, but I think the gist of it was -- and to go back to your page 38 of 43, I think the gist of it was the calculation that you have in what is labelled as table 2, "Revised revenue lag from residential and general service customers," I think the general gist of what transpired in the Horizon proceeding was to do that entire calculation by segregating bimonthly from monthly.

MR. AIKEN:  Right.

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  And I believe we've taken a response -- I believe we have taken an undertaking where we intend to respond to your proposal.  And the short answer to your question is yes.

I mean, in the Horizon proceeding, we had said that, you know, the universe should be looked at separately for bimonthly and monthly.  And that's probably -- and I can't, you know, state that with certainty at this point, but that'll probably be one of the comments on your page 38 of 43.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And if it is, will you then undertake to provide a revised or an updated Exhibit K2, Issue 0.2, Interrogatory No. 5?  Which is also known as Energy Probe Question No. 15, just so there's no confusion.

In that response, the DSO tables 7 and 8 were separated by monthly and bimonthly customers for both 2009 and 2010.

Could you update that response to reflect the weighting, like the 11.5 days, the 23 and a half days, et cetera, that Hydro Ottawa used in the response that we were talking about earlier, so that the record would be complete that if the collection lag needs to be broken down between monthly and bimonthly, we'll have that information on the record?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. SCOTT:  We're not exactly clear what you're asking for.  To just break down the collections lag into monthly and bimonthly or...?

MR. AIKEN:  What I'm specifically asking for is, in the response to K2, Issue 2.2, Interrogatory No. 5, part (c) --


MS. SCOTT:  Right.

MR. AIKEN:  Where it provides the DSO tables 7 and 8 separated by monthly and bi-monthly customers.

MS. SCOTT:  Mm-hm.

MR. AIKEN:  I want you to calculate the days outstanding in each of those four tables using the average aging days reflected in the first two tables of Undertaking LT1.2.  Those are the midpoint of aging days that Hydro Ottawa suggested, so we come up with days sales outstanding for each of the monthly and bi-monthly group of customers.

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, and using the weighting on LT -- the 11.5 and the -- I'll use this weighting that was shown in LT1.2.

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.

MS. SCOTT:  We could do that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Helt, should that be given an undertaking number?

MS. HELT:  Yes, undertaking LT1.3.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. LT1.3:  RECALCULATE TABLE 7 AND 8 SHOWN IN INTERROGATORY 2-2-5, BUT USING THE WEIGHTING FOR THE MIDPOINT THAT WAS CALCULATED IN LT1.2.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I understand the intervenors don't have any questions for this panel aside from Board Staff; is that correct?  Ms. Helt, then.

MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Board Staff has --


MR. STOLL:  Sorry, could I just get a repeat of that undertaking just so we're clear on the exact wording, before we move on?

MS. SCOTT:  My understanding is that it's an update of Exhibit K2-5-5.  But perhaps, Mr. Aiken, you can articulate it precisely on the record?

MR. AIKEN:  You're going to make me do this again.

MS. SCOTT:  Or if you want me to do it, so I can make sure I have an understanding of it, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Why don't you take first crack at it?

MS. SCOTT:  Mr. Aiken would like us to recalculate table 7 and 8 shown in -- actually it's in interrogatory 2-2-5, but using the weighting for the midpoint that was calculated in LT1.2.

So we will come up with a new weighted days sales outstanding for monthly and bi-monthly billed customers.

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt


MS. HELT:  Board Staff has prepared a compendium of documents, as well, and we will mark that as Exhibit M1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.5:  COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS OF BOARD

STAFF.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Aiken has done such a thorough job with his cross-examination that Board Staff's questions have been reduced considerably, and there are just a few questions that we intend to cover with respect to remote meter reading.

If I can ask the witness panel to turn to Board Staff compendium page 2, it is interrogatory K2-2-1, Board Staff question number 9, wherein Hydro Ottawa was asked what consideration the lead-lag study gave to smart meters and remote reading capability.

My understanding is Hydro Ottawa replied:
"The method in which meter reading data is gathered has not changed the billing process."

And that is seen in the response.  Can you please explain the current time line from service period end date to bill production?

MS. SCOTT:  So if we take a hypothetical that the service for a monthly customer starts on January 1st and ends on January 31st, and a meter reading is done under the current system a couple of days after January 31st, we still have to wait for the IESO pricing.

So the billing date could be February 18th, because we have to wait the ten days for the pricing, ten business days, yes.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  And can you also explain the time line from service period end date to bill production prior to smart meters and remote reading capability?

MS. SCOTT:  I think that what I just provided was --


MS. HELT:  That incorporated that?

MS. SCOTT:  That incorporated that, yes.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  So then the production of bills is dependent solely on the availability of spot market price, and no efficiencies have been gained by remote reading capability?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, it's dependent on the reading and the spot market price.  And with the smart meters, we will be able to read the meter more regularly and quicker, but the waiting for the pricing has not changed.  So the billing -- being able to produce a bill, timing has not changed.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

And can you confirm that operational impacts arising from smart meters has not impacted on the working capital allowance?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.  Smart meters allow us to read the meters more frequently, and quicker.  But it does not impact on the billing.  So it does not impact on the working capital allowance.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.

Just a few other questions, and this is just a follow-up, really to what Mr. Aiken was asking you concerning the Horizon proceeding.  If I can ask you to turn to Board Staff compendium page 6?  This is the Navigant report June 3, 2011.

The second full paragraph states:
"Is the HOL study consistent with other studies that have been accepted by the Board?  By and large, yes."

And then the first bullet below that says:
"The company has used a customer weighting approach in its calculation of the service lag component.  This is consistent with prior studies that have been either filed with and/or accepted by the Board."

And then there is a footnote which references three Board decisions.  Those Board decisions are the 2005 decision of Hydro One Networks, the 2007 decision of Toronto Hydro, and then the 2009 decision of Horizon.

My questions for you are quite straightforward, but you would consider Hydro Ottawa to be similar to Toronto Hydro and Horizon in certain ways; that being the largest urban utilities with older and higher density service areas?  Would you agree with that?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  First of all, ma'am, the EB-2009-0096 I believe is Hydro One, not Horizon.  The 2001-0131 is Horizon.

MS. HELT:  All right.  My mistake, then.  Thank you for pointing that out.

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  And with respect to your question -


MS. SCOTT:  Well, yes, there are some similarities between Hydro Ottawa and Toronto Hydro and Horizon.

MS. HELT:  All right.  And what would you say is different about Hydro Ottawa that would support a working capital allowance of 14.2 percent versus the lower working capital allowances for Toronto Hydro and that approved for Horizon?

MS. SCOTT:  I can't really comment.  I don't know enough about Toronto Hydro and Horizon's situations in terms of their working capital requirement inputs.

MS. HELT:  All right, then.  Thank you.

There are no further questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Questions by the Board

MS. HARE:  I have one question for you, Mr. Subbakrishna.  You mentioned that you had a concern with using DSO method, and, as I understand it, you were asked, really, to peer review what Hydro Ottawa had done, and your conclusion was that it was complete, generally consistent.

But had you actually been asked to do the study, how would you have done it in a different way?  And could you comment on what the results might have been, recognizing you didn't do it?

MR. SUBBAKRISHNA:  Right.  Thanks for the question.

Well, I mean, first of all, the -- I think I made it clear that first of all, regarding the DSO, that -- I think I pointed out both the advantages and the disadvantages of using a simple DSO.  The advantage being that, you know, it's an industry-accepted standard, and it goes beyond just, you know, a regulated distribution utility.  I mean, you could have any business entity using a DSO to try to figure out, you know:  Hey, at any given point in time, you know, who owes me how much?  And how old is it, on average?  You know.

That's the first thing, and in response, I believe, to Mr. Aiken, I said, you know, that I would have used the midpoint.  Now, within midpoint, the one thing I would have done differently is what input would I have selected as the average age within each bucket.  That is the one thing I would have done differently.

As I have always said, it's my opinion that, you know, what is enshrined in code, what is required by statute supersedes an educated guess as to how old your receivables are within a bucket.  If you know for a fact that, say, for example, within one to 17 days, you know, the average age is 11 and a half, if you know that for a fact, then by all means use it.

But if you don't know that, the 11-and-a-half days that we're talking about over here, in my opinion, is a simple guess.  I mean, eight and a half is just as good as 11 and a half.  But we do know that 16 is what the customer has to pay.

Now, let's flip it around.  And this is another thing that I would have done, just to be internally consistent within my study.

If we look at the HST, the business rules regarding he HST is that, you know, you collect on the last day of the month following, and you also remit on the last day of the month following.

Now, you could say:  Well, you know, we think we remit, you know, a couple days early, and so on and so forth.  But is that -- the question I would ask myself is you know:  Is a gut feeling a substitute for what's enshrined in code?

So those are the two things I would do differently.  Other than -- and I think I have pointed that out, I mean, in the letter that I gave to Hydro Ottawa.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Stoll, do you have redirect?

MR. STOLL:  Just a couple quick questions.
Re-Examination by Mr. Stoll


MR. STOLL:  And, Ms. Scott, I believe you referred to some additional costs when you were discussing with Mr. Aiken, if you were going switch to monthly billing.

Can you just elaborate on the nature of those costs?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, I was referring to things like the additional postage for monthly billing, the additional printing costs.  Also, there may be additional staff required, in terms of looking at exceptions and things like that.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Thank you.

And the next item is:  When is the monthly billing currently planned to be implemented?

MS. SCOTT:  The current plan is to implement monthly billing after we have upgraded to our new CIS system, which is late 2013.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Thank you very much, panel.  You're now excused.  Ms. Scott, I know you'll be back.

So we'll take our morning break now, and come back at 10 after 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:51 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:19 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass, the panel has very briefly looked at the settlement agreement, but in looking at it briefly we realized that we would like a little more explanation as to which issues, then, are covered by this new agreement and what still remains in scope for this hearing.

So if you could go through that, that would be very helpful.

MR. CASS:  Yes, Madam Chair, I'll take a crack at it.  As the Board would be aware, issue 11 on the issues list for this case was generally modified International Financial Reporting Standards.  There were two sub-issues under that, 11.1 and 11.2.

11.1 dealt generally with the proposed revenue requirement determined using modified IFRS.  I think the best way to address the scope of the supplementary settlement proposal on that would be to talk about what's left -- if I might do it that way, what would be left under issue 11.1 if the Board accepted the supplementary proposal.

It's my understanding that under issue 11.1 the outstanding issues would be the capitalization policy, number 1, and the second outstanding issue would be depreciation and particularly the issue about service lives of assets.

So, in short, if the Board accepted the supplementary proposal, those would be the remaining issues under 11.1.

Issue 11.2 dealt with two proposed modified IFRS deferral accounts.  I addressed this at the outset.  The supplementary proposal, if accepted, would mean a resolution of the issue with respect to establishing the deferral account to capture opening balance sheet adjustment required to pensions as a result of converting to modified IFRS.  That would no longer be an issue.

The remaining issue under 11.2 would be the deferral account to capture future gains and losses on disposals of pooled assets.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I take it, Mr. Cass, that last outstanding item is related to the items of capitalization and depreciation, as well, or no?  No?

MR. CASS:  Not to my understanding.  It's an intervenors' issue.  It is not to my understanding there is that connection.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Do any of the intervenors want to add anything to Mr. Cass's description of the supplementary settlement agreement?

Okay, thank you.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I might call the second witness panel?  Ms. Scott will return to this panel.  The new witness, if I could describe him that way, for the panel is Mr. Bill Bennett.  He's director distribution asset management for Hydro Ottawa, and he should come forward to be sworn.
HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED - PANEL 2

William Bennett, Sworn


Jane Scott, Previously Sworn

Examination by Mr. Cass

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, just by way of introduction, to assist the Board with the roadmap, the Board will have seen from Exhibit M1.1 that there are three issues being addressed by this panel.  The first issue relates to the LRAM request made by Hydro Ottawa.  For the Board's assistance in tracking the issues, that can be tied back to the discussion under issue 10.1 in the main settlement document.

The second issue to be addressed by the panel is the load forecast methodology for kWh system energy.  That can be tracked back to issue 3.1 in the main settlement document.

The third issue is the proposed -- what's called a per-meter approach to collection of the smart meter disposition rider.  That ties back to issue 6.1 in the main settlement document.

Panel, can you confirm, please, that the evidence and answers to interrogatories prepared on three issues that I've described were done by you or under your direction and control?

MS. SCOTT:  I can confirm that, yes.

MR. CASS:  Do you have any changes or updates to that evidence?

MS. SCOTT:  No, I don't.

MR. CASS:  And do you adopt the prefiled evidence and the answers to interrogatories as your evidence in this proceeding?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  Just for the assistance of the Board, Ms. Scott, I'll ask you a question about each of the three issues, just to give the Board an overview.

Could we perhaps start with the LRAM issue, and could you please just give the Board an overview of what that's all about?

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Hydro Ottawa has requested an LRAM for 2012, to be collected in 2012, of $859,000.  The purpose of that LRAM is to collect the lost revenue in 2009 to 2011 related to the 2009 and 2010 OPA programs.

We did receive the verified results from the OPA for their 2009 programs.  Originally, we had asked just for the LRAM for those programs.  In the updated filing requirements that the Board issued, they indicated that utilities should request the 2010-related LRAM for 2010 OPA programs, so we did update the evidence with that.

At the time, we did not have the final 2010 results from the OPA, so we made an estimate based on the 2009.  Subsequent to that, we did receive the final results from the OPA, and they are actually slightly higher than our estimate, but we have not updated based on those finals.  We're still requesting the 2010 based on the estimate that was made.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Ms. Scott.

Now, with respect to the issue regarding load forecasting methodology, can you again give the Board just a brief overview?

MS. SCOTT:  I can.  Hydro Ottawa uses a statistical modelling software called MetrixND that is produced by Itron.  We've used that for the last five years.  Itron is a provider of forecasting models for both the electricity and the gas industry.  And in our original evidence, we had a list -- Exhibit C1-1-1, a list of other Canadian users that use the same modelling.

We found that the results from the model for system energy have been good.  We showed in our C1-1-1 the comparison between weather normal and the forecast, and the variance has always been less than 1 percent.

So the model forecasts system energy based on historical purchase and sale, GDP and the weather heating degree days and cooling degree days.

So we get on a monthly basis a forecast of the system purchases.  We apply to that a loss factor to get a monthly value for consumption, system consumption, on a system basis.

Separate to that, we do for each class a forecast of sales, and that's based on historical data and economic and weather variables.  So for each class, we get a class sales.

But because we have the bi-monthly and the monthly billing, when we bill, say, for April, we're actually billing for -- it could be up to two months before, consumption that was done two months before.

So we need to actually translate billed monthly data into calendar month.  And so, in order to do that, we need to scale the class sales to the system sales, because the system sales are on a calendar month.

So a scaling factor, which can be both positive and negative - it depends on the data - is applied to the class forecast for kilowatt-hour sales to adjust so that it meets the loss-adjusted system forecast.

So we've historically seen a less than 1 percent increase in growth in system energy, and the results of the Itron model for 2011 and 2012 are 0.85 percent and 0.91 percent increase.  This, again, was shown in the Exhibit C1-1-1.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Ms. Scott.  And finally, can you explain the per-meter approach to the smart meter disposition rider that I referred to earlier?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  Hydro Ottawa had proposed that the smart meter disposition rider be recovered on a standard monthly fixed charge per meter customer.  The charge would be 40.41 -- 41 cents for a period of one year.

And that calculation can be found in the Board's draft updated smart meter model, which was attached to the settlement proposal.

We did, as a result of a request from the intervenors, calculate a class-specific distribution rider, rate rider.  At that time, it was based on a different amount that we were going to collect from customers, but we have recalculated the amount because we thought the intervenors would be asking for that.  So we do have that amount.

I don't know how you want to enter it into... shall I just read it in?  Okay.  I can read it in for now.

So for the 41 cents, if we were doing it on a per-meter customer, it would be 41 cents.  If we did it by class, based on capital costs spent on the smart metering program, residentials would actually get 56 cents per month back.  The general service less-than-50 would pay 6.74 per month.  The general service 50-to-1,500 would pay 35.89 per month.  The general service 1,500-to-5,000 kilowatts would pay 40.81, and the large users 50.93.

But I would note that we're not proposing this method.  We're proposing the method of per-meter customer.  That's been the standard.  All of our smart meter adders --initially there was a different smart meter adder for the residential class and the commercial class, but then in 2008, I think, we went to a standard smart meter adder, the same for all metered customers.

And the reason we wouldn't support the per-class is we did not collect the data on the smart meter funding spending by class.  We had some in the residential class, but things like collectors, which can actually service both classes, were not put class-specific.

So if we -- and the way we calculated these class riders was to make some broad assumptions and prorate the expenses that are not class-specific.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Ms. Scott.

Those are my questions of the panel, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Can I just ask one question for clarification?

Are parties hearing these numbers for the first time, or have they seen these numbers?

MS. SCOTT:  They've seen the 41 cents.  I don't think they've seen the per-class numbers.  They're in similar proportion to the numbers that they saw previously as a result of an interrogatory -- an undertaking, I think it was.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Aiken, I understand you'll be first in cross-examining?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, thank you.

I have just a few questions, and they're related to the load forecast and specifically the system energy forecast and the class billed sales forecast.

If I could have you turn to page 40 in the compendium, this is Exhibit MT1.3.

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry.  I have that as M -- oh, okay.  It's M1.4.  Your compendium isn't M1.4, but it's M -- yes.  I'm with you now.

MR. AIKEN:  You went through this just a few minutes ago, but my understanding is that the first thing Hydro Ottawa does is a system energy forecast, which is a purchase forecast, and that's done using a regression equation, which is then adjusted by the loss factor to arrive at a loss-adjusted system forecast, which is essentially billed -- a billed energy forecast?

MS. SCOTT:  If your definition of "billed" is the same as mine, no, it would be billed, but based on a calendar month.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  So for example, in MT1.3 on page 40, the very first line for 2012, month 1, you have a system forecast of 765,007 and when divided by the loss factor, that gives us the loss-adjusted forecast of 738,638; correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then the second thing that you do is you do a forecast for each rate class, using individual regression equations?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And that's what shows up, starting with the residential through the dry-core columns, in MT1.3?

MS. SCOTT:  In the second, the bottom, without the calibration factor.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the bottom part is without the calibration?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.

MR. AIKEN:  The top part is already calibrated by rate class?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. SCOTT:  Because if you look at the sum of the sales in the bottom part, it's 7,881 versus the 7,753, but in the top part they're equal, which is what the calibration factor does, is bring those two --


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So in the top part of the table, then, what you do is you sum up the residential through dry-core numbers, and then adjust them by the calibration factor that's shown so that the "Sum of sales" column equals the loss-adjusted system forecast?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the calibration factor is a number that comes out of the process, not a number that is somehow derived and then used in the process?

MS. SCOTT:  No, it is derived and used in the process, because we've -- it comes up with the 788 -- and does this on a monthly basis.  I am just talking about annual -- comes up with the 7,881, and comes up with the 7,753, and then says:  What is the calibration factor required to make that adjustment?  And then goes back and multiplies each of the rate classes each month, by that calibration number.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The confusion I'm having is that for these two different approaches, I know that you have forecasts for a number of different rate classes that you sum up, and then you compare that to your overall loss-adjusted forecast.

For the months -- and this would be months 7, 8, 9 and 12, where the calibration factor is shown as one, and in the second part of the table, if you look at those months, again, 7, 8, 9 and 12, the loss-adjusted system forecast seems to be the same as the sum of sales.

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, how can these two independent forecasts give you exactly the same number when no calibration is being applied to them?

MS. SCOTT:  That's what comes out of the model.

MR. AIKEN:  So you're saying, for example, for December 2012, the sum of the sales of these independent eight forecasts is 709,952, which is identical to the system forecast divided by the loss factor?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And do you have any explanation of why those four months match?

MS. SCOTT:  Why specifically those four months?  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Is there any evidence or anywhere in the evidence where we can find a comparison of the forecast accuracy of the two different forecasts compared to the actual sales?

And what I mean here by "the two different forecasts" is the sum of sales without the calibration, compared to the loss-adjusted system forecast for the period, say, 2005 to 2010.

MS. SCOTT:  That is not in the evidence.  And I would explain why, because I don't -- Hydro Ottawa doesn't see it as two different forecasts.  To us, it's one, it's one forecast, and that's why we showed the accuracy of the one forecast.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you see it as a different methodology?

MS. SCOTT:  Absolutely not.  It's part of the one methodology, because of this issue of -- especially with the bimonthly sales billing, that we need to make this adjustment in order to match to calendar sales, billing sales to calendar sales.

MR. AIKEN:  So you've never looked at the accuracy on an annual basis of the sum of sales - in other words, the sum of the individual rate class forecasts - and compared that to the accuracy of the loss adjusted forecast which is -- it's a comparison of a bottom-up versus top-down approach.

MS. SCOTT:  I have not done that, no.

MR. AIKEN:  Is that something that could be done relatively easy?

MS. SCOTT:  I'm not sure, without having to go back and find the original forecast for each of those years.

MR. AIKEN:  What do you mean go back and find the original forecast?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, just finding the -- making sure that we have the details, you know, with the calibration in it for that forecast?

MR. AIKEN:  But what I'd actually be looking for would be with the calibration out of it.

Let me try and explain.  If you go page 41 of the compendium, you'll see on table 1 the forecast actual and weather-normalized purchased megawatt-hours.

MS. SCOTT:  Mm-hm.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, I assume this is -- this is really your first step.  This is your purchased energy forecast, and the first column is showing what the equation would have predicted for each of the years shown.  It's not your forecast from 2005, for example.  It's what the equation -- the current equation that you've used to forecast 2012.  And putting in explanatory variables for 2005 says this equation would give us seventy-seven-nine-one-nine-thirty-four.  And then you're comparing that to the actuals to see the forecast error from the current equation you're using; is that correct?

MS. SCOTT:  It's the same equation, but it's, at the time, what was the forecast?  And 2005 and '6 are not great examples, because they were done in the previous method.  But for 2007 and '8, it was:  What did the Itron model predict -- forecast at that time?

MR. AIKEN:  So these numbers are not what would have been predicted for 2007 utilizing the current model?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  It's what was predicted using --


MS. SCOTT:  The same model, the same equation, but the inputs at that time.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Again, so the forecasted numbers there would have been based on normal weather, not on actual weather?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So then the second through fourth column that does a comparison between forecast and actual, part of that variance is going to be because of the variance in weather between actual weather and normal weather?

MS. SCOTT:  Absolutely.  And that is why the fifth column shows what the actual weather -- the actual consumption or purchases, weather-normalized would be in order to see how well the model is predicting system purchases.

MR. AIKEN:  And by "weather normalized," I assume that you're taking the equation as it was back then and putting in normal weather?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So what's the difference between the forecast megawatt-hours and the weather-normalized megawatt-hours, say for 2007, because I'm now hearing that both are based on normal weather?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, the -- no.  The weather normal is correcting the actual, where the forecast does not have any actual in it.

So to the extent that the forecast could be off by other factors, when the weather normal is just correcting the actual by weather.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And how do you do the weather correction?  Is it just the difference in degree days times the coefficient in the equation?

MS. SCOTT:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. SCOTT:  Yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  So I take it from your hesitation before it would be difficult to put together a table that showed for -- say, 2007 through 2010, that showed the actual megawatt-hours in billed energy compared to the top-down forecast and the bottom-up forecast?

MS. SCOTT:  It would take me some time to do.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I have a compendium of material.

MS. HELT:  The School Energy Coalition cross-examination materials will be Exhibit M1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. M1.6:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  It was sent electronically, but I don't think the witness has a printed copy, so we're just trying to get that organized.

MS. HARE:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can turn you to page 2, this is the -- and my only area of questioning is with respect to the smart meter rider.  And I just wanted to dig a little deeper with the reasoning for why Hydro Ottawa doesn't feel that it is appropriate to use or go by the customer class.

And during your examination, you talked about -- because you don't have specific per-class numbers, you've had to make -- to answer the undertaking response, as well as provide the updated numbers, you had to make some assumptions.  Am I correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I would like if you could talk about why you feel those numbers are either -- those assumptions that you made that led to those final numbers, why you feel that they're not accurate or they're not an accurate proxy for what the actual revenue requirement is for each customer class.

MS. SCOTT:  As I said before, we did not record all of the costs by class.  We did record the residential smart meters and the commercial smart meters by classes, but for -- we have a number of demand meters and we have a number of collectors, and we did not record those by class.

And I think the issue is that if we have a collector -- collectors are located on various locations in order to receive the information from the smart meters that are around it.  We could put a collector on a general service customer and the majority of the information it's collecting is from residential.

So what class would that be assigned to?  That, to us, is not clear.

So I guess the feeling is that the second initial direction from the Board was to do it per -- to recover the revenue on a per-metered basis.  That's the best way to stay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  On page 4 of my compendium, and this is page 3 of the undertaking response, you talk about that, but you talk about that, but you talk about you've made general assumptions to try to create a proxy for -- if I'm getting that correct, to be able to determine the revenue requirement per class.

So I was wondering -- I mean, you did the calculations and the assumptions that you made.  Why do you feel that they are or are not a true representation of the actual costs?

MS. SCOTT:  The assumption that we've made is to prorate these costs based on the meters that are installed in each class.  As I said, I don't think that -- maybe it is; maybe it's not.  But I don't have any confidence that it is necessarily the best assumption.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you think that there are any specific classes that the result -- that the numbers resulting from those assumptions are either -- the revenue requirement is either over- or underrepresented, that is showing a greater number than what -- I mean, using your expertise, you would think?

MS. SCOTT:  I think we did say in this undertaking that we felt that the residential class was taking the burden, if I remember correctly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are all my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I'll start with smart meters, since that's where you left off.

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, do you have a compendium?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I do not have a compendium.  I use the computer screens, but I'm going to stick with this undertaking response, LT1.14, since it's the, quote-unquote, the smart meter adder issue interrogatory, I think.

You mentioned –- you just talked about residential taking the burden.  You were asked about over- or underrepresenting, and you said the residential rate class is taking the burden.

I took that to mean that you thought that based on your per-meter proposal, the residential would be overpaying relative to what their actual costs would have been, as a general proposition.  That's how I understood your answer; was I correct?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  And possibly -- I would add the word "possibly" -- overpaying because of the assumptions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And just going to page 4 of the interrogatory -- or, sorry, the undertaking response LT1.4, I think when -- you gave some additional updated evidence based on the new smart meter numbers; correct?  And I think you were referring to replacing numbers in this table?

MS. SCOTT:  It would be replacing the numbers in table 2, column 6, where column 7, the 0.16, has changed to the 0.41, based on the updated draft Board model, and so the numbers I had given you were for column 7 -- sorry, 6.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry --


MS. SCOTT:  And that was done, again, by making some assumptions about how things were prorated.  So it was sort of prorating based on prorating, so I will...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I ask you, are those the only two columns that change, or does your re-analysis or your new answer to filling out tables 1 and 2 change numbers elsewhere?  Can you talk about that generally?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  And we can provide it.  We don't have copies of it here, but we can provide it as an undertaking to the update of column -- of table 2, if you would like.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is it just table 2 or would it also be table 1, and then also -- well, let me just go through the tables on this page.  So I was on page 4, 4 of LT1.14.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably -- well, you can tell me.  The first table, which is –- has customer class and per-unit cost, did that change?

MS. SCOTT:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. SCOTT:  Because the costs -- I'm just -- well, I shouldn't say that.  It may have changed slightly, because the costs have changed slightly and the revenue has changed slightly.  So I...

MR. BUONAGURO:  So there may be some changes?

MS. SCOTT:  There may be some changes, yes.  I did not update that one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then tables 1 and 2, would they be changed?

MS. SCOTT:  The total revenue requirement changes in table 1, and that would carry forward too into table 2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So why don't, by way of undertaking, I have you update page 4 of Undertaking LT1.14 with the new numbers?

And I think, if I'm correct, you would be updating LT1.14, and this is the only part of that undertaking that actually changes because of the numbers, right?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. SCOTT:  The write-up remains the same.  Yeah.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking L1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. L1.4:  TO UPDATE PAGE 4 OF UNDERTAKING LT1.14 WITH NEW NUMBERS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, you spoke to my friend briefly about having tracked some of the costs by class but not others?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And you said you actually did track residential smart meter costs separately and commercial smart meter costs separately, but that you didn't track by class the demand meter costs and the collector costs?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now --


MS. SCOTT:  And --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Go ahead.

MS. SCOTT:  There's also the related software costs to connect to the MDMR and the AMI, things like that.

So there are some other costs separate from the actual meter costs that are not class-specific.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you had to make some assumptions in order to provide an allocation amongst rate classes?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And perhaps we'll use this table as a reference point, and I'm assuming some of the changes -- some of these are changed now and we'll get that in the undertaking response, but as a matter of scale, I think the scale of each of the costs relative to one another is fairly constant?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because it represents a mixture of actual costs within a class, and then your assumptions on the rest?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So, looking at the bottom of table 2 -- and again, understanding that these numbers will change in the update -- you have a total revenue requirement for everything of 28.9 million or so?  Do you see that?

MS. SCOTT:  28,840, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  yes.  And can you tell me how much of that 28,840 relates to costs in the first two categories, the residential smart meter costs and commercial smart meter costs that you actually did track by class?

MS. SCOTT:  If I could just...

I don't know that I have it by revenue requirement.  I think if we had -- in the Exhibit I2-1-1, we showed the actual capital costs by class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The total capital costs for the class?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  Actually, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Or the per-meter costs?

MS. SCOTT:  Mr. Bennett is pointing out to me that actually in table 1, which shows the revenue requirement again, it does break it out by meter costs, software and hardware, OM&A.  So I think from that, it would be that the meter costs, I would be fairly confident in saying the majority of that is class-specific, because all of the smart meters would be assigned to that.  But then in addition, there would be a small amount of the collectors in there, and then the software and the hardware costs, again, would have -- and the OM&A would have to be prorated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So just looking at table 1, so I understand what you're saying.  Meter costs, the vast majority of that, it sounds like, is -- represents what was the class-specific --


MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- tracking that you had.

And then with some small amounts for demand meters and collectors?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then under software and hardware costs and OM&A costs, these are the results of certain assumptions you made about allocating those costs?

So for example, the total software and hardware costs were at 2.1 million.  And then you've allocated them to the three classes above: residential, GS-under-50 and GS-over- 50, based on certain assumptions?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Do you know -- well, I guess I can figure out that it looks like of the 2.1 million, you've basically allocated about two thirds of the costs to residential under software and hardware costs, and then you can do the math on the other two.  But for residential in particular, it's about two-thirds?  No, I'm sorry, I got it wrong.  Sorry?  Around 60 percent, I'm told.

MS. SCOTT:  Subject to check, I'll agree with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think maybe you told my friend, but what were the assumptions you made to come, for example, for a 60 percent allocation for residential?

MS. SCOTT:  And it was based on the -- both the meter numbers and the dollars spent on installing the smart meters in that class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, back to the demand meters and collector numbers, can you come up with what that, quote, small number might be or what it is?  Presumably it's -- you mentioned the evidence somewhere having the class-specific numbers.  Presumably, it's the class-specific numbers taken away from, in the residential class, 15.418.  If you do that for each class and you can tell me exactly how much of these unallocated capital costs you have that have been allocated?

MS. SCOTT:  I would have to take that as an undertaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. SCOTT:  Based on the revenue requirement of the meter cost, as opposed to the capital costs, yes.

MS. HELT:  That would be undertaking L1.5.

MS. HARE:  Could you please, perhaps, Mr. Buonaguro, rephrase what that undertaking is?

MR. BUONAGURO:  To break out under the updated meter costs, table 1, how much of those costs are actually allocated portions of the demand meters and collectors costs that we referred to.  When I asked about meter costs, I was told that the vast majority of the costs in that column, for example, $15.418 million residential, are actual residential meter costs, but then some small part of it would be related to either demand meters or collectors, or both.

So I'm just trying to find out how much of that little extra is demand meters, collectors or both.

MS. SCOTT:  And it's the revenue requirement --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MS. SCOTT:  -- of the meters?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  All right.

UNDERTAKING NO. L1.5:  TO BREAK OUT, UNDER THE UPDATED METER COSTS, TABLE 1 of Exhibit I2-1-1, HOW MUCH OF THOSE COSTS ARE ACTUALLY ALLOCATED PORTIONS OF THE DEMAND METERS AND COLLECTORS COSTS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I can leave my smart meter questions at that.  Thank you.

Now I have some questions about load forecast, and this would have gone much more smoothly if I'd been first, because now I have to try and account for whatever it was that you told my friend, Mr. Aiken, and I'm going to try and dive in at a point where I'm not repeating stuff, so bear with me.

Starting from -- and you can use his compendium, if it's handy.  This was Exhibit MT1.3, and he took you through what this is, and I'm not going to do that again.  And he talked about how you took, essentially, the results under the "without calibration factor" table, and then you applied a calibration factor to it.

And that became your result for the purposes of the load forecast.  Is that generally true?

MS. SCOTT:  The result for the sales for the classes that are billed on kilowatt-hours, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  And in doing this adjustment or calibration or however you want to refer to it, our understanding is that you applied that adjustment equally across all classes?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we get that from Exhibit K3, issue 3.1, interrogatory 11, for reference sake.

So that means, in our mind, and perhaps you can confirm, that you haven't given any preferential weighting to the results of the model for one customer class versus another?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the results have all been treated as being equally credible or valid across all classes?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, can you remind me which classes or which customer classes are actually demand billed?

MS. SCOTT:  The general service greater than 50, less than 1499 kilowatts; the general service greater than 1500, less than 4999 kilowatts, and the large users; and the street lighting and actually the sentinel lights, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And my understanding is that for those classes, the billing demand was forecast using individual class models.  And we get that from Exhibit C1-1-1, page 14, which I can pull up.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  It's done a similar way with the individual class models, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that in the case of the GS over 50 class, that class was broken down into three subclasses and billing demand for each forecast -- billing demand for each class was forecast, and then summed?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And is it fair to say that in the case of billing demand, there was no effort made to reconcile or calibrate these class forecasts to Ottawa's forecast of its overall system peak?

MS. SCOTT:  The billing demand forecast for the classes is not calibrated.  They tend to be billed based more on a calendar basis.  So the bill for October is consumption in October.  So there is considered to be more of a match between the purchases for the month than the consumption for the month, and the bill for the month.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So thank you.  So that's the answer to my next question:  Why not?  And you're saying because they tend to be calendar-based billing in the first place?

MR. SCOTT:  More representative of calendar-based billing, yes.  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm going turn to Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 10 in the updated evidence.  And here you state that the forecast models sales reasonably well, given the noise in the data, with an adjusted R2 value ranging from 0.761 (sic) to 0.961, except for the unmetered scattered load.


Now -- and I've highlighted that paragraph.

The previous paragraph talks about both your models for both energy and demand by customer class.  Does your comment in the highlighted paragraph here about the results of the forecast and the range of R2 values apply to both the demand and energy models?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, just -- I don't know if it matters or anything.  I'm just catching a difference between the words you used in the text here on the range.  The text reads 7 -- 0.718.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

So the actual text is 0.718 and 0.961, and I said accidentally 0.761.  Thank you for the correction.

Thank you.  Those are my questions on load forecast, and then my last area is the last area I think I'm allowed to ask this panel, which is LRAM.

Now, we understand from your current application that you are including LRAM in the claim for the impact of 2009 and 2010 programs in the years 2009 to 2011.  I think you've talked about that?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And, furthermore, the kilowatt-hours and kilowatts the claim is based on are the total net annual savings from these programs in each of the three years, as reported by the OPA, as shown in Exhibit I3-1-1, tables 2 and 3 of the updated evidence, which we can pull up there.

But, generally speaking, that's how -- what the claim is based on?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  I just noticed there's another table 2 in that exhibit.  It's the second table 2, yes, on page 7, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I got the right one.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  That's the table 2 that's on page 7 of 12 --


MS. SCOTT:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- of Exhibit I3-1-1.

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And also, as we understand it, you're not making a claim for the impacts of 2008 CDM programs between the years 2008 and 2011, on the basis that the load forecast used to develop the rate for these years included an adjustment for 2008 CDM programs.  And we find that in Exhibit I3-1-1, page 3 of the updated evidence?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we also understand that you're not making any claims for the impact of programs prior to 2008 on the basis that they, too, would be incorporated into load forecasts used to rebase your rates for 2008?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, can you confirm that the CDM adjustment included in the load forecast used for rebasing 2008 rates was 42,667 megawatt-hours and 6.7 megawatts, and we get that at Exhibit K10, issue 10.1, Interrogatory No. 1, which I can pull up for you.


MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.  That was the settled CDM adjustment in 2008, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And, furthermore, since the rate for 2009 to 2011 -- sorry, since rates for 2009 to 2011 are based on the 2008 rates, would you agree that the rates for these years also incorporate a similar CDM adjustment for 2008 programs?

MS. SCOTT:  I would agree that the rates for 2009 to '11 are based on the 2008 rates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that means, to the extent that 2008 rates were affected by CDM adjustment, so, too, would were the 2009 to 2011 rates?

MS. SCOTT:  I would accept that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I want to pull up technical conference undertaking LT2.13, page 2, and going to table 1.  And here you show what the actual CDM savings were for 2008.

Can we agree that both the kilowatt-hours and kilowatts were less than the adjustment included in the load forecast that was used to set 2008 rates and then underpinned your rates for 2009-2011?

So for example, the load forecast adjustment for CDM megawatt-hours was, as we talked about, 42,667, as it's shown on the table, and 7.633 kilowatts, but the actual savings -- and you can sum the total of the both -- are much less than that?

MS. SCOTT:  The actual savings for the -- based on the 2008 OPA programs, I would refer you to Undertaking LT2.8, the table there, which shows the total annual savings in 2008 of 57,529.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, what was the reference again?

MS. SCOTT:  LT2.8.  Yes, there.  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you --


MS. SCOTT:  So yes, I would agree the savings from the 2008 OPA programs was less, but the total savings was actually higher.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But you're adding up -- you're including 2006 OPA programs with persistence in 2008, 2007 OPA programs -- you're adding up --


MS. SCOTT:  I'm adding up all of them, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So my question was specific to the 2008 program.  So I go back to my table.

The adjustment that was included in the 2008 rates related to 2008 CDM, both third tranche and 2008 OPA programs, was 42,667 and 7.633 -- sorry, 42.667 megawatt-hours and 7.633 kilowatts, and the actual 2008 third tranche and OPA program results, as highlighted in table 1 on Undertaking LT2.13, page 2 of 3, are less than those two figures?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And now if we move forward to table 2 of the same undertaking, LT2.13, we asked you to calculate the revenue impact for 2008 to 2011 based first on the CDM adjustment included in the 2008 load forecast -- which is what we've been talking about, I think -- which is the first half of the page, and then, second, based on the actual CDM savings in those years from CDM programs, which is the second half of the page.

MS. SCOTT:  From the 2008 OPA and the third tranche programs, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Exactly.  Thank you.

And looking at the last part of the page and the savings reported in the second column, these are the total savings in 2008 from both OPA and third tranche programs; correct?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And these savings have been used to calculate the lost revenues in 2009 to 2011, as well as 2008; correct?

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, could you repeat that?  These -- which savings?

MR. BUONAGURO:  You used the total savings we just referred to to calculate lost revenues in the 2009 to 2011 period, as well as the 2008 in the table?

MS. SCOTT:  For this illustrative example, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And for reference, this was 12,170 megawatt-hours of tranche savings and 13,933 megawatt-hours' savings of OPA program savings; correct?

MS. SCOTT:  As per table 1, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, if I turn Undertaking LT2.8, which you referred me to briefly, you provide here the persistence information on the program results implemented in various years; correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And going to the 2008 OPA programs, which I've highlighted, we note here a slight decrease after 2008 from the 13,933 megawatt-hours.  So in 2008, the first year of the programs, it was 13,933, and then it goes down to 13,131 in 2009, and 13,130 in 2010.  Do you see that?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And what's reported here is what's reported to you by the OPA; am I correct on that?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. SCOTT:  And the details would be in the attachment that was provided with the evidence.  I think it was -- oh, sorry, it was attachment 1 to K10-1-2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, sticking with this table in Undertaking LT2.8, we note that there are no savings attributed to 2008 third tranche programs after 2008; is that correct?  And that's the column -- sorry, the row called "2008 third tranche" and the first number you see is 2008 megawatt-hours of 12,170, and then nothing after that?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.  That's what's shown, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I think that means the OPA didn't provide you any information that there was persistence beyond 2008?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, no.  The 2008 third tranche were -- our programs, we would not get information from the OPA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I got confused.  Thank you for that.

Am I correct that Ottawa hasn't provided any analysis regarding the persistence of these programs beyond 2008, and that's why you haven't recorded any savings in this table?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So if we go back to table 2 in LT2.13, would it be fair to say that the calculation in the bottom part of this table, which we've talked about briefly before, regarding actual lost revenue, would need to be revised to do two things?  One, reduce the OPA program savings slightly for the years after 2008, to reflect the slightly decreasing annual savings that we just went through?  And B, to remove the third tranche savings for the years after 2008, to reflect the fact that you don't have any evidence to that fact, with respect to persistence?

MS. SCOTT:  I'm not sure exactly what you're trying to show.  So we did this based on a request from intervenors, so if you wanted to show it that way, we could do it that way, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can I have an undertaking to do it that way?  So make an --


MS. SCOTT:  My understanding was we did update with the third tranche taken out.  Did we not?

MR. BUONAGURO:  You did it in a certain way, which we can't talk about in the hearing.

MS. SCOTT:  Oh.  I understand.  So yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. SCOTT:  So -- and it may be, and I'd have to go back and check that the slight reduction on the OPA programs is taken into account, but I would have to check that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  We'll make that part of the undertaking.

MS. HARE:  Is that undertaking clear, Ms. Scott?

MS. SCOTT:  It is to me, yes, ma'am.

MS. HELT:  So that will be Undertaking L1.6, to provide a revised bottom table on Undertaking LT2.13 with respect to actual CDM savings, 2008 OPA and third tranche programs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would refer to it as a revised table 2.

MS. HELT:  Revised table 2.
UNDERTAKING NO. L1.6:  TO PROVIDE REVISED TABLE 2 FROM UNDERTAKING LT2.13 WITH RESPECT TO ACTUAL CDM SAVINGS, 2008 OPA AND THIRD TRANCHE PROGRAMS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I'm also done, although I guess "almost" is relative.

In the application at Exhibit I3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1, you talk about the Board's March 2008 guidelines for electricity distributor conservation and demand management, EB-2008-0037, in the context of the LRAM application.  And I circulated, I believe on Friday, a copy of that and references.  Did you get those?  Electronically.

MS. SCOTT:  We got them electronically.  Do we -- is there a hard copy?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh.  I'm being looked at.  I don't have a hard copy, but I have the --


MS. SCOTT:  If you're going to have it up here?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have the references referred to in the e-mail, so you'll be able to see it.

And I'll pull it up, the first one.

So I've referred to page 18 of the document, which talks about the purposes -- or the purpose of the LRAM -- and I'm going summarize -- as being a mechanism to compensate distributor-induced lost revenues from CDM so as to remove any disincentive for distributors to do CDM.

Would you agree that that's a fair characterization of the LRAM?

MS. SCOTT:  I would agree.  I would agree.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And how this is done is by compensating -- which I think is the word used in the first sentence of the second paragraph, "a mechanism to compensate" -- unforecasted CDM results or CDM savings that are not in the utility's load forecasts.  Would you agree with that summary?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, I would.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then at the bottom of the page that you'll see I've highlighted there, it confirms that previous years' savings are assumed to have been included in the rebasing year's load forecast.

So we talked about, in this case, your load forecast having included already the impact of CDM when you rebased?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  And through an adjustment, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if the purpose of the LRAM is to ensure distributors are not penalized for undertaking CDM that is not in their load forecast by having ratepayers compensate them, would you agree that it would be reasonable for ratepayers to expect similar treatment when distributors' actual CDM savings are less than what was included in the load forecast?

MS. SCOTT:  Not necessarily.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And why not?

MS. SCOTT:  On the adjustment for the load forecast, when it's based on adjustment for a load forecast, it was part -- the adjustment that was made was part of a settlement conference.  It was part of a package.  And so there's no request for true-ups based on other things.

I see no reason why there would be a true-up based on that specific item.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there anything else?  I've asked you the very open question why you didn't agree with me.

MS. SCOTT:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you've given me that answer.  I want to give you an opportunity to provide me any other answer that you may have.

MS. SCOTT:  Not that I can think of at the moment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying that because the number that was included in your 2008 forecasts related to certain CDM program results, which happened to be negotiated through a settlement and included in rates as part of a settlement, then ratepayers shouldn't have expected -- that if you failed to meet those CDM program results that were in that number, they shouldn't expect to be compensated for it?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  And I would say, even if it hadn't been part of a settlement, I would say the same thing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now -- okay.  Thank you.

Would you agree that without such symmetrical treatment as I think I've just proposed, a distributor will be rewarded for CDM savings that it did not actually achieve, which could be viewed as somewhat as a disincentive to achieving what is in the forecast?

MS. SCOTT:  I think you'll have to repeat that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that without symmetrical treatment of the type I've proposed - i.e., if you've underperformed with respect to the CDM activity that was assumed in the forecast and you're not required to pay ratepayers back, I'll call it in quotes, for that under-performance - aren't you being, or wouldn't a utility in that situation be rewarded for CDM savings they did not actually achieve?

MS. SCOTT:  Possibly, but I would answer that we would not come back if we had achieved higher.  We would not have come back and asked for an adjustment that our CDM results had been higher.  We accepted what we had in our 2008 rate application decision.  We would not have come back and said, We actually achieved more; therefore, we should get more back.

And the other part of it is that the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just before you go on -- sorry, to interrupt.  I'll let you finish in a second, but in the case I've put forward, you didn't actually achieve more.  You achieved less; right?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  And my second point was going to be that in terms of reported CDM results.  I would argue that there may have been other non-reported CDM results, and we don't come and ask for those.

So I think my point is that we had accepted a decision in 2008 and we live with that decision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you talking about unreported CDM results?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, I mean, the free rider rate, could it have been different?  Could it have been more or less?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't understand.  The free rider rate in the programs that were actually accounted for in the load forecast?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.  The reported CDM results are based on a certain free rider rate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MS. SCOTT:  And to the extent that that is accurate or not, it could affect what the actual CDM results are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MS. SCOTT:  That could go either way.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that would affect the performance relative what was embedded in the load forecast?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right, because we only make -- we are only getting compensation for actually reported CDM savings.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Well, unless the Board accepts that if you happen to include a CDM forecast that's embedded in a settlement agreement, you don't have to make adjustments?

MS. SCOTT:  Or in a decision.  Or in a decision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I don't want to argue with you.  Sorry for that.

MS. SCOTT:  No, I...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, can I confirm - and I think you opened with this - for 2009, you're seeking an LRAM just for 2009 program savings?

MS. SCOTT:  No, it was updated to be 2009 and 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, updated to 2010.

MS. SCOTT:  OPA programs, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, sorry, I think, actually, my question is more specific than that.

For 2009, you're seeking an LRAM in 2009 related to 2009-related programs?

MS. SCOTT:  Absolutely, yes.  Yes, you're correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And not for any other programs?

MS. SCOTT:  No.  Only for the 2009 OPA programs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I'm going to ask you this question.

Given the purpose of an LRAM, which is to compensate for unforecasted CDM, why wouldn't it be reasonable to calculate the LRAM for 2009 based on the difference between the 2009 and -- 2008 and 2009 program savings in 2009 versus the CDM that was built into the load forecast used to set 2009 rates, which to tell you the truth, is what is set out, I think, in LT2.13?

MS. SCOTT:  When the adjustment was made in 2008, we had no concept of what the 2009 -- because that was done in 2007.  I think we were midway in 2007.  At that time, the aggressive CDM targets hadn't been released.  We did not know what the 2009-2010 programs were going to be.  And, in our mind, they are above and beyond any savings that was incorporated in 2008.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, in fact, you wouldn't have incorporated 2009 program savings in 2008?

MS. SCOTT:  No, but if the assumption was that there were -- sorry, that the 2009 would just be 2008 programs continuing on, that was the assumption at the time; that 2009, 2010 are layered totally on top of any savings resulting from 2008.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.

Would you agree that electricity distributors such as Ottawa, Hydro Ottawa, who rebased in 2008 using cost of service for a forecast test year and are now coming in for a second rebasing, are the first LDCs who will have had CDM included in their load forecasts and, therefore, looking for an LRAM related to that embedded CDM?

MS. SCOTT:  I'm not sure that we're looking for an LRAM based on the embedded CDM.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you're the first one who had LRAM -- sorry, you had CDM embedded in your forecast in 2008.

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And now you're coming back on a second rebasing?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you are looking for an LRAM claim?

MS. SCOTT:  We are looking for an LRAM.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You just happened to look for an LRAM claim relative to what was embedded in 2008 relating to 2008 programs?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.  And we have, again, adjusted our load forecast for CDM savings going forward, so...

MR. BUONAGURO:  In 2012 and --


MS. SCOTT:  In '12 going forward, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I mentioned circulating documents on Friday.  The second document I circulated was the OEB 2011 document entitled "Demand Side Management Guidelines for Natural Gas Utilities", which I'll pull out.

And I referred specifically to pages 32 and 33.  And looking at page 32, I've highlighted it on the page that's up on the screen, quote:
"If the actual impact of natural gas DSM activities undertaken by the natural gas utility in its franchise area results in greater (less) natural gas savings than what was incorporated into the forecast, the natural gas utility will earn less (more) distribution revenue than it otherwise would have, all other things being equal."

I'm going to ask you the question:  Do you agree that this is the same issue we've been talking about regarding electricity CDM and the LRAM?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then if you would turn to page 33 of this same document, and, again, I've highlighted the relevant passage:

"Accordingly, the LRAM amount is a retrospective adjustment and may be an amount refundable to or receivable from the utility's customers, depending respectively on whether the actual natural gas savings resulting from the natural gas utility's DSM activities are less than or greater than what was included in the forecast for rate-setting purposes."

Then I'll ask you this question.

If a symmetric LRAM can be applied to the gas utilities in Ontario, would you see any reason why it couldn't be applied to electricity distributors?

MS. SCOTT:  I don't see any reason why it couldn't be, but at the present time it is not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you say it is not because -- what?

MS. SCOTT:  Of our understanding of the other document that you put up, the electricity CDM guidelines.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Ms. Helt?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt


MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you.  I have a few questions on each of the issues.  I'll start with LRAM, since we're currently on that topic.

Ms. Scott, you had indicated that Hydro Ottawa has received the 2010 OPA-funded CBM program results.  That's correct, isn't it?  My understanding's correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct, yes.

MS. HELT:  Would you undertake to file that report or a summary of that report?

MS. SCOTT:  I had thought we had in the technical conference, but I will confirm that, or if we hadn't...

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Perhaps what we can do, then, is over the lunch break determine whether or not it's been filed, and if not, then we'll seek an undertaking at that time.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Then moving to smart meters, I just want to follow up with one of the questions that Mr. Rubenstein asked of you.

You had said that residential customers would be taking the burden with respect to smart meter costs.  If we look at the table that is found in Board Staff's compendium, page 21, the table at the top of the page, Undertaking LT1.14, page 4 of 4, it's clear from that table there are differences with respect to the meter costs, with the residential being the lowest and the large user being the highest; that's correct?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  So my question is:  Won't the deferred revenue requirement also differ between the classes on a per-meter basis?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, no, because the per-meter basis takes the number of meters in that class, not the number of smart meters or collectors installed.

MS. HELT:  All right, then.  So the deferred revenue requirement per meter, is it correct that that would increase as the capital costs increase?

MS. SCOTT:  Absolutely.  And I -- sorry, I think I might have misspoke before.

The per-meter cost takes the total number of meters, takes the revenue requirement divided by the total number of metered points, not on a class basis, and divided by 12 to get the number, so...

MS. HELT:  All right, then.  So the capital costs would increase with the deferred revenue requirement per meter increasing?  That's, I believe, what you just said?  Agreed to?

MS. SCOTT:  The rider would increase as the capital costs increase, yes.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  So wouldn't a uniform SMDR mean that residential customers then would be subsidizing the other classes, more than would the class-specific SMDRs in this Undertaking LT1.14?

MS. SCOTT:  That's what it appears from these numbers is, yes, that if it was calculated on a per-class basis, because the residential is getting some money back --


MS. HELT:  Right.

MS. SCOTT:  -- that they have been subsidizing, yes.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. SCOTT:  And sorry, that's what I meant by having the burden.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  That's helpful.

I have no other questions on smart meters, so that just leaves the load forecast.

And a number of the questions have already been asked, specifically with respect to the class-billed sales forecast and system energy forecast.

What I'd like to do is have you turn to page 14 of Board Staff compendium.  Table 9, which is at the bottom of the page, provides the weather-normal sales by class in megawatt-hours for the period from 2005 through to 2012.

The last column of table 8 shows percentage growth.

Can you confirm -- and also the last column at table 9.  But can you confirm whether the last column represents the year-to-year change of the load in terms of percentage?

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, I'm not sure what you mean by "load."

MS. HELT:  Well, it's with respect to -- if you look at -- well, let me try and phrase it a different way, then.

The percentage growth for 2011 and 2012, I'm just trying to see here...

So -- okay.  Let me change that.

The percentage growth from 2005 to 2010, if you look at the percentage growth numbers, if you add them all up, we have approximately a 0.3 percentage growth for table 9, which is the weather-normalized forecast.  Would you agree with that?

MS. SCOTT:  Subject to check, that would be the change from '05 actual to '12 weather-normal.

Oh, sorry, you're looking at table 9?

MS. HELT:  That's correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, that would be the weather-normal '05 to weather-normal forecast, yes.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  All right, then.  That's really what I was trying to get at.

If we look at page 16 of the compendium, I'd just like for you to confirm that in this table, the 2011 and 2012 sales forecasts in megawatt-hours before and after adjustments to the percentage growth is shown.  For 2011 before adjustments, the percentage growth is 0.51 percent; is that still correct?

That's the second line of that table.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. HELT:  And then, again, 2012 before adjustments, it shows 0.91 percent as the percentage growth?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  Could you provide the percentage growth for 2011 and 2012 forecast sales before the calibration factor?

MS. SCOTT:  I'm sorry?  I missed that.

MS. HELT:  No, that's fine.

Can you provide me the percentage growth for 2011 and 2012 forecast sales before the calibration factor?

MS. SCOTT:  I'm just looking to see if that was included when we did the table for...

If I look at K3-1-5...

But I will confirm that that's using the right -- the most updated numbers.  There have been some --


MS. HELT:  All right, then.  So subject to check, the K3–1-5, did you say?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  1-5 provides the percentage growth for 2011, 2012 forecast sales before the calibration factor?

MS. SCOTT:  We will confirm that.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Does that need an undertaking number?

MS. HELT:  I think it was subject to check that they would confirm that.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  So then I don't believe we need an undertaking at this time.

Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Questions from the Board


MS. HARE:  I have just one question, Ms. Scott.

You mentioned at the outset that the LRAM claim you're seeking is 859, but had you incorporated the OPA's latest number, which I understand we'll see whether it's been filed or not, what would the claim have been?

MS. SCOTT:  I did not calculate the dollar numbers.  I can tell you, though, that we had asked our -- the LRAM, the 859, was based on 5,778 megawatt-hours, and the OPA's final results were 6,464 megawatt-hours.

And our claim was based on 22 megawatts, and the OPA's final results came in at 37.6 megawatts.

MS. HARE:  Is that not --


MS. SCOTT:  I can, if you want --


MS. HARE:  Is that a lot of work for you to translate?

MS. SCOTT:  No.  I can do that, if you would like.

MS. HARE:  Please.

MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking L1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. L1.7:  TO RECALCULATE LRAM NUMBER.

MS. HARE:  Any re-examination, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  No.

MS. HARE:  Well, thank you very much, panel.  We'll take our lunch break now, then, and return at -- let's make it 10 to 2:00.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:40 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:58 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.
ACCEPTANCE OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT


MS. HARE:  The Board has considered the proposed Supplementary Settlement Agreement, and approves the settlement of these issues as filed.  The Board appreciates the clarification of matters included in Issue 11 which are still in scope in this hearing.

The Board would like to commend parties for continuing to negotiate matters where a successful resolution could be possible.

The Board notes, however, that the agreement does not include the customary citing of evidence and interrogatories which coincide with these issues.  This can be completed over the next while, so that a complete agreement can be included with the final decision.

We have panel 3, I see.  Mr. Cass, are you going introduce the panel?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.

Just before that, if I might, Ms. Scott has a number of undertakings.

MS. HARE:  Excellent.

MR. CASS:  Since she's not on this panel, she's working away on them.  I do have one that I'm going to take a crack --


MS. HARE:  I thought you were saying that you already had them done.

MR. CASS:  Well, there is one.  There is one that is done that I'm going to take a crack at on her behalf, while she's working away on the other ones.

There's a number of references here, and please forgive me if I don't state them all accurately, but it's Undertaking L1.1.

The request was for an explanation of differences between table 13 -- and I've noted that the reference for table 13 was Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 12 -- and another item, which I've noted was Exhibit LT1.10, page 2 of 2.  The request was to explain the differences between those two items, and I hope I've given the references accurately.

In any event, the explanation is that in the table 13 that I've referred to, there are numbers presented for service load, payment load, total load, where the numbers that were put into table 13 actually are not the correct numbers.

However, the correct numbers were used in the calculation.  So the calculated result does not change; the calculation is correct.  It's a presentation issue as opposed to a calculation issue.

I hope that's clear to everyone, but that's the explanation for the difference between those two items that was referred to in that particular undertaking request.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Helt, whose undertaking was that? 

Mr. Aiken, it was yours?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Is that explanation satisfactory?

MR. AIKEN:  I believe it is, yes.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Are there any other preliminary matters, then?

MR. CASS:  That's the only one I have, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

So we have two witnesses on the next panel.

Closest to the Board is Mr. Mike Grue.  He is the treasurer of Hydro Ottawa.

With him is Geoff Simpson, who is the director of finance.

If you two could come forward and be sworn, please?
HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED – PANEL 3


Michael Grue, Sworn

Geoff Simpson, Sworn
Examination by Mr. Cass


MR. CASS:  Again, as I did before, Madam Chair, just to tie this issue into the roadmap that's been provided to the Board, as you'll see from Exhibit M1.1, the specific issue for this panel has do with the average rate for long-term debt.  That can be tied back to Issue 5.2 in the main settlement proposal.

Having said that, Mr. Grue, if I could turn to you, sir, can you confirm that the evidence and interrogatory responses submitted by Hydro Ottawa in connection with the cost of capital generally were prepared by you or under your direction and control?

MR. GRUE:  They were.

MR. CASS:  Do you have any changes or updates to that evidence?

MR. GRUE:  I do not.

MR. CASS:  And do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding, the prefiled evidence and the answers to interrogatories?

MR. GRUE:  I do.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Turning specifically to the long-term debt issue, can you give the Board an overview of Hydro Ottawa's approach to long-term?

MR. GRUE:  Yes.  Our approach to long-term debt has always been to follow the deemed capital structure, of which long-term debt is 56 percent.  We maintain that deemed capital structure and long-term portion by borrowing on an as-required basis from the holding company, which passes through its actual costs of external debt, if placed in the external market, or using a deemed rate at the time of the debt issuance.

This arrangement with the holding company allows us to draw smaller tranches than otherwise would be able to be put into the public markets, but without a premium attached to it, because the holding company does not attach a premium.  It goes through either the actual cost or the deemed calculation at that time.

As discussed during the technical conference, the OEB's methodology of long-term debt has evolved over time, and Hydro Ottawa has tried to follow those changes and we believe that we meet the current guidelines currently set out in the cost of capital report.

MR. CASS:  Could you briefly elaborate on your comment about following the cost of capital guidelines, please?

MR. GRUE:  If I may, I'll read a couple of excerpts.  I know it's in some of the compendiums that have been put forward, as well, but on page 53 to 55 on the report, and I'll just read, quote:

"The Board will primarily rely on the embedded or actual costs for existing long-term instruments.  Third-party debt with a fixed rate will normally be afforded the actual or forecasted rate, which is presumed to be market rate."

As mentioned, where we have external financing, those costs are passed through on a transparent -- no other charges attached to them -- actual-cost basis.

We also uses the deemed rates more as a transition rate, until such time as we can put external vendors to the market and then pass that through to Hydro Ottawa as well.

The second point that I'd like to note is for affiliate debt with a fixed rate, the deemed long-term debt at the time of issuance will be used as a ceiling on the new rate allowed for that debt.

This really has two parts to it.

It talks about at this time of issuance.  We've taken that to heart, and have subscribed to Bloomberg and Consensus, which is part of the formula and methodology that the OEB uses to determine their long-term debt rate, and actually calculate that rate at the time of issuance.  So if we issue, as we did in July of this year, we calculate what the deemed rate otherwise would have been at that time and use that rate for that debt issuance.

And the other part is we use it as a ceiling.  And I'd like to give you a couple of examples where we have done that.

In 2009, and just as the cost of capital report was being completed, we issued debt late in the year.  It was before the Board had issued any of the new rates underneath the new methodology.  But the deemed rate at the time was 7.62 percent, which was very high because it was issued right at the height of the financial crisis in 2009.

As mentioned, we issued our debt later in 2009, and felt that 7.62 percent was likely a little high at that point in time.  So we had discussions with investment bankers and determined that a rate of 5.75 percent was more applicable, and that was the rate that we used for that particular debt issuance, rather than the 7.62 percent.

In this year, in the proposed rate that we have put forward in our rate application, we used the deemed rate as an underlying rate for our forecast, which this year was --5.32 percent was the deemed rate.

And to compare that, I guess, Enersource issued debt in April of this year at 5.297 percent, so we felt that deemed rate was an appropriate rate at that particular time on which we would build our forecast.

The last one is the relative forecast.  In general, the Board is of the view that the onus is on the electricity distribution utility to forecast the amount and costs of new or renewed long-term debt.

For forecast new debt, as I say, we use the underlying methodology of using the OEB's deemed rate calculation, and to that, we looked at future rates and what was expected at that time.  And rates were definitely going to increase.  And we used a conservative amount and added that amount to the rate that we thought was applicable at the time, being the 5.32, and that's how we arrived at our forecast.

So these examples, I've tried to show that we are trying to follow the guidelines and feel that we meet the guidelines that are currently laid out in the cost of capital report.

MR. CASS:  One final question, Mr. Grue.

What can you tell the Board about the reasonableness of Hydro Ottawa's average long-term debt rate?

MR. GRUE:  I feel our rate is reasonable.  We proposed a 5.39 percent, which is a little changed from 2008.  It's 13 basis points, I believe.

We feel it's reasonable due to our approach and methodology of passing through the actual costs when external debt is placed, or using the deemed rate under the new methodology, which I feel is very indicative of what the rates are supposed to be at market rates.  As shown before, I think a couple tests showed that.

Also, when I look at some other recent decisions that were made in this year - and I will quote these - I feel again that we are positioned fairly well for our rates.  Hydro One Networks in EB-2010-0002 had 5.64 percent for the long-term rate.  Horizon Utilities had 5.97 percent in EB-2010-0131.  Hydro One Brampton 6.2 percent in EB-2010-0132, and Toronto Hydro 5.37 percent in EB-2010-0142, and they actually used a forecast as well using similar methodologies for 2011 of 5.75 percent, which is the rate we had used.


So in light of all of this, I feel our 5.39 percent continues to be a very reasonable rate for the ratepayers.


MR. CASS:  Those are my questions of the panel, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Aiken, I believe you're first.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken

MR. AIKEN:  One more time, yes.  Thank you.


Panel, if I could have you turn to page 1 of the Energy Probe compendium, which is Exhibit M1.4?


On the first page, you'll find an updated verse of Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1.


Am I correct that the only change here from your original evidence is that you've reflected the actual issuance that took place in July of 2011?


MR. GRUE:  That's correct.  We had originally had the 5.75 percent, because they're all the forecasts we kept at the same rate, and we updated that with the actual calculation that we made at July.


MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that the first three promissory notes listed here - and those are the ones with rates 5.14 percent, 5.9 percent, and 5.318 percent - are demand promissory notes and are callable?


MR. GRUE:  Yes, they are.


MR. AIKEN:  For the Board's convenience, I've included each of these three demand promissory notes in the compendium, starting at page 5 and I believe going through page 19.


They're all from attachment AF to Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 1.


MR. GRUE:  If I might just give you a history on those notes, as well, just for the Panel's understanding?


These notes basically have been grandfathered the original notes that Hydro Ottawa had issued to the City of Ottawa directly, its shareholder.  The affiliate debt was - went right from Hydro Ottawa right to our shareholder.


In 2005, when we crystallized and commercialized our long-term debt, the notes were redone and issued to the holding company, but the format basically stayed the same.


So I just want to be clear that, as much as they're demand promissory notes from the holder and they can be pre-paid from the issuer, the structure of them were intended -- for structural purposes and flexibility within the organization were not meant to be -- to play with rates, as rates change every month on either side of that.


And those are the only three that were like that.  They were the original ones.


MR. AIKEN:  Is it Hydro Ottawa's position that the Board's deemed long-term debt rate determined from September 2011 data should be applied as a ceiling to the first three instruments shown in this table?


MR. GRUE:  Sorry, just repeat that?


MR. AIKEN:  Is it your position that the Board's deemed long-term debt rate, which will be determined from September 2011 data, should be applied as a ceiling to the rates for these first three instruments?


MR. GRUE:  The first three in table 1?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. GRUE:  No, I do not.  As noted, the two of those, the vast majority of the debt that's been issued at the $250 million is actual costs that were external debt.  Those flowed directly through to Hydro Ottawa.


And the other one was the deemed rate at the time, as we didn't have any actual debt to line up with that.  And that was the deemed rate at the time, and it has been in place since 2005.


MR. AIKEN:  So if you could turn to page 4 of the compendium, which is from the Board -- report of the Board on the cost of capital, the second bullet point:

"For debt that is callable on demand (within the test year period), the deemed long-term debt rate will be a ceiling on the rate allowed for that debt."


Are you suggesting that the Board should not follow its policy?


MR. GRUE:  I believe the Board would be following the policy in the primary start of -- in fact on page 53, on page 3 of your document, the primary underlying or embedded actual costs for existing long-term debt, which is exactly what we did, for two of those debt issuances.


For the third one, it's -- the deemed long-term rate at the time of issuance was used.  And I won't argue the fact that we don't call these.  We actually issue notes every year saying that they're not going to be called within the year.  I think that was discussed previously, that you didn't bear much weight on that, but the intention never was to call these.


As I said, the notes were structured from a structural point of view.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  On page 53, the last paragraph before the two bullet points, the highlighted part says:

"The deemed long-term debt rate will act as a proxy or ceiling for what would be considered to be a market-based rate by the Board in certain circumstances."


Then it goes on to list five different circumstances, the fourth of which I had previously read to you.


So your position is that you're calling this embedded or actual costs even though it's callable and reflects one of the circumstances where the Board's deemed rate could apply?


MR. GRUE:  You're referring to the actual debt again, or all three?


MR. AIKEN:  All three.  All three that are callable.


MR. GRUE:  I'll say again that we've passed through, I think, as a primary part, that we try to get to an actual market rate, and which is certainly is our methodology to achieve that.  And when we have actual debt, we pass that through, and when we use a deemed rate, it's a transition until such time as we can replace that with actual debt.


So, no, I don't agree that that's what would be callable, and that's under the deemed section.


MR. AIKEN:  One final question on these three promissory notes -- or specifically on the first two, the first two promissory notes are both dated July 1, 2005, but there's a substantial difference in the rates of 5.14 and 5.9 percent.


Can you explain why these two notes, issued the same day, carry such different rates?


MR. GRUE:  The July 1, 2005 $200 million, that debt was actually issued in February.  There obviously was some change in organizational structure, et cetera, until these notes were passed through to the holding company, ultimately, and so there was a time lapse of three, four months.  So I think that would explain part of that difference, and, as I say, we did not have actual debt at July 1st.  And the deemed rate at the time that was applicable to our LDC was what was placed into that third note -- second note at July 1st, sorry.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.


I'm turning to the next three lines on table 1, so these would be the three promissory notes shown for $15 million each at rates of 5.85, 5.97 and 5.65, am I correct that these three are all part of the grid promissory note that I've included at pages 20 to 24 of the compendium?


MR. GRUE:  I believe you're correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, on page 20, the first page of the grid promissory note, if I can find it here, the first item under "principal" says that the total amount authorized will not exceed 75 million, and yet when I look back in table 1 on page 1, I see that in addition to the three amounts of 15 million that have been issued, there's a forecast of three more, and that totals 90 million.  So where is the final 15 million coming from, if it's not coming from this grid promissory note?


MR. GRUE:  Well, the note would either have to be amended or a new note put in place.  I think also, as I mentioned at the technical conference, that it's anticipated that we would be doing an external debt issuance at least once, if not twice, in the coming three to four years.


But, you're right, we'd have to issue a new note or amend the current one, and that does have a limit of $75 million.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, as I understand it, this grid promissory note is not callable; is that correct?


MR. GRUE:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Am I also correct that the payment date for this note is February 9, 2015, unless otherwise agreed to by Hydro Ottawa Holding and Hydro Ottawa Limited?


MR. GRUE:  Yes, to be consistent with our methodology, that's the latest that we'd be doing another external debt issuance and would want to convert all of our debt and deemed debt at that point in time into our actual debt that we would have in the market.


MR. AIKEN:  So the note could be paid off prior to that date?


MR. GRUE:  It could be, yes. 

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, when I compare schedule A of the grid promissory note on page 24 of the compendium with the rates shown in the table on page 1, I see a 10-basis-point difference for the December 2009 and April 2010 issuances.

I take it that this -- that the 10-basis-point administration charge -- this is the administration charge that the utility pays the holding company; is that correct?

MR. GRUE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And that's noted on page 21 of the compendium in the grid promissory note, item number 3, "Administrative fee."

So a couple of questions on this.

Would I be correct that the July 2001 issue shown on page 1 at 5.65 also includes a 10-basis-point administration fee, as well as 10 basis points for issuance costs?

MR. GRUE:  Sorry, could you repeat that, that particular one?

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  The July 2001 issue shown on page 1 –-

MR. GRUE:  2001?

MR. AIKEN:  2011, sorry.

MR. GRUE:  Okay.  Sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  Is shown at a rate of 5.65 percent.  And that includes 10 basis points for the administration fee, as well as another 10 basis points for issuance costs?

MR. GRUE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And that is actually shown in -- and this is not in the compendium, but it's Exhibit MT1.11, which is an updated schedule A, which shows an interest rate of 5.45 percent for the July 5th, 2011, issuance.

And table 1 on Exhibit K5, Issue 5.2, Interrogatory No. 1, where each of the issuances is shown as an interest rate plus an issuance cost plus admin costs, to come up with a total rate.

MR. GRUE:  Yes, this is to emulate what an actual debt issuance into the market, if Hydro Ottawa was placing that, represents.  So we have the underlying interest rate, the issuance costs, and the admin costs are really ongoing costs and are also there.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, just a housekeeping matter, but the table shows the date of issuance on the April 2010 note as April 1, whereas I believe appendix A of the grid promissory note shows a date of April 30.  This is the same issue; it's just got different dates for some reason.  Is that correct?

MR. GRUE:  That would be correct, yeah.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Can you confirm that when the April 2010 loan was obtained, the Board's deemed long-term date rate was 5.87 percent?

MR. GRUE:  I would confirm that's my understanding of the deemed long-term rate, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And similarly, when the July 2011 loan was obtained, the Board's deemed long-term rate was 5.32 percent?

MR. GRUE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the July 2011 issue is actually 23 basis points -- sorry, 13 basis points above the Board's long-term deemed debt rate; is that correct?

MR. GRUE:  Yeah.  As I say, the calculation was done on July, as we subscribe to Bloomberg and Consensus, so we can replicate that calculation at the time of issuance, which is our methodologies, as rates are quite volatile and they change and, we believe, as accurate as you can be at the time of issuance to do that calculation.

And that's how we did that, so the rate actually came out to 5.45, to which we added the issuance costs and admin costs.

MR. AIKEN:  Given that you subscribe to the Bloomberg and Consensus numbers, do you have an idea of what the September 2011 data will provide as a deemed long-term debt rate?

MR. GRUE:  I believe the Board will be issuing that.  I'm not sure if I want to, as I said before, to go out and say what the Board's going to issue.  I believe they review and approve that rate.

MR. AIKEN:  But you have a pretty good idea of what you think that rate is going to be?

MR. GRUE:  I do.

MR. AIKEN:  You just don't want to share it with us at this time?

I want to focus on the administration charge of 10 basis points, as shown in appendix A of the grid promissory note -- sorry, that's added on to that rate.

I think the math tells me that this amounts to about $15,000 per year for each of the $15 million issuances; have I got that correct?

MR. GRUE:  I believe that's correct numbers, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  What does this $15,000 per year cover?

MR. GRUE:  15,000 is, as I say, ongoing costs on an annual basis that we incur to have debt in general, whether it be long-term, short-term.  Some of those costs are in the evidence.  I can go over them again.  We have two credit ratings that we have, and BNY, the trustee fees that we pay on an annual basis.  We subscribe to Bloomberg and Consensus, so there are subscription fees to those, to help us do those calculations.  We have meetings ongoing with the rating agencies every year, and investment bankers.

So those are some of the ongoing costs that we incur, as well as there's costs that are involved there that have never been part of the normal allocations between the Holdco and Hydro Ottawa Limited.

When we issued the first debt back in 2005, that's why that 10 basis points was attached to the actual costs, to cover those.

We've never changed that methodology since then.  I think I discussed that perhaps it would be easier if some of those were part of an SLA, rather than being incorporated here, but we've never put them back into the SLA, so they are costs that are incurred by the holding company on behalf of its subsidiaries and Hydro Ottawa Limited to maintain its debt.

So, as I mentioned, some of the out-of-pocket expenses, as well, there's a lot of senior executive time that goes into those meetings.  As I say, that's not part of the SLAs that go across to Hydro Ottawa.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you explain why there was no administration cost on the second July 1st, 2005 issuance?

MR. GRUE:  I think we were still in our evolution stage.  This is just when we first started issuing debt to the holding company.  They were attached to the actuals.  At the time, we used the 5.9 percent.  We just didn't attach one at that point.

As I say, we would have evolved our methodology to try to capture our out-of-pocket expenses, as well as issuance costs in the future ones.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that Hydro Ottawa believes that the administration fee and the issuance costs should be over and above the ceiling on the Board's deemed long-term debt rate?

MR. GRUE:  The long-term debt rate is to be indicative of what an A-rated utility can achieve in the market, which is its pure interest rate.  Over and above that, when you do a debt issuance you're always going to have issuance costs.

So I believe they're valid that way.  As I say, the administration costs are internal costs that we need to recover.  We don't recover them through an SLA, so we've attached them to the long-term debt instruments.

MR. AIKEN:  But this is money that actually your holding company goes out and borrows; is that correct?

MR. GRUE:  Sorry, in what sense?

MR. AIKEN:  Well, for example, the promissory note, the grid promissory note, you're borrowing this money from the holding company?

MR. GRUE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So the holding company is the one who incurs the costs to go out and get this money in the market?

MR. GRUE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. GRUE:  But if Hydro Ottawa was to go out to the market, they would incur those similar costs.

MR. AIKEN:  And I guess in summary, then, would it be Hydro Ottawa's position that a market-based rate for a loan from a third party includes an allowance for issuance costs and administrative fees?

MR. GRUE:  Sorry, could you say that one again?

MR. AIKEN:  If Hydro Ottawa went out to -- and got a market-based loan from a third party, the rate you would pay would include issuance costs and administrative fees that you might incur?  In other words, it would be an all-in rate that you would pay?

MR. GRUE:  Well, it would be split into two, that you would be paying the face coupon rate of whatever that debt is.  As well, you would incur your issuance costs to issue that debt, which you do when you go out to the markets.

And as I say, the administration costs are always there to maintain the items that I went through.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, I think we're saying the same thing.

I'm going to turn now to the last three issuances on table 1, on page 1 of the compendium.

As I understand it, these are forecasted issues from the same grid promissory note.  I guess my first question:  Have you actually issued any more beyond the July 2011?

MR. GRUE:  We have not.  I believe last time we were together, we talked about looking at the forecast, which is pretty much complete now.  We've deferred the one payment to December, and the other one is likely going to be in early January now.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Does Hydro Ottawa believe that the ceiling, based on the Board's deemed long-term debt rate, based on the September 2011 data, should apply to this affiliate debt -- the affiliate forecasted debt, I should say, these last three issuances?

MR. GRUE:  The forecast was based on, as I say, the deemed rate at the time of the forecast.  And we looked at future rates.  There's a couple of ways of doing that.  You can take an underlying rate.  Toronto Hydro does this, for instance, and adds their spreads that they would expect to achieve in the market.  We could do the same and get to the same number.

We took the approach of using the deemed rate as the underlying and added our costs of 20 basis points and looked at what the increase was expected to happen at that point in time.  And that's how we arrived at the 5.75 percent.

And I believe that's consistent, as I say, with our methodology that we've used all along in trying to utilize actual debt, deemed debt, and the actual rate for forecasts.

MR. AIKEN:  So if the Board were to issue a letter in the next few weeks saying that the deemed long-term debt rate was, as an example, 5 percent, your proposal would then have an interest rate of 5.2 percent of as the forecast for these three forecasted issuances?

MR. GRUE:  If you use that rate as your underlying interest rate, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.

The grid promissory note is payable in February of 2015.  I mentioned that earlier.  The first $15 million that you borrowed under this note was issued in December 2009.  So it has an effective term of five years and a couple of months.

And the last $15 million forecast, assuming it happens in July of 2012 as forecast, will have a term of about two years and eight months.  Have I got those numbers about right?

MR. GRUE:  I'll assume they're right.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Why does Hydro Ottawa believe that it's reasonable for ratepayers to pay a deemed long-term debt rate based on 30-year money for fixed-term loans of three to five years in length?

MR. GRUE:  Well, as I said, the methodology we follow is to use the deemed rate as a bridge until we can do external debt.  We don't intend to lock in rates of -- whether they be high or low.  Our plan is to utilize external debt, which I believe is in the spirit of the cost of capital report, that that is the first basis that you want to use for your actual debt rate.

And so we've tied it in, as I've noted, to the latest that we can do in external debt rate, being 2015 when the $200 million comes up for renewal.  So we don't view this as short-term debt.

The other side of that is, if had $50 or $75 million of short-term debt, it would not be following our deemed capital structure, as I said at the outset, which would totally skew, I guess, what the long-term versus short-term rates would be.

MR. AIKEN:  Has Hydro Ottawa considered borrowing this two- to five-year money from some source other than its affiliate, such as Infrastructure Ontario, and, if not, why not?

MR. GRUE:  We have looked at Infrastructure Ontario, as well.  Our bond indenture does not allow us to have any encumbrance on any of the assets in Hydro Ottawa Limited.  The Infrastructure Ontario program typically is targeted as specific assets, which ours is not, and it also does have an encumbrance on those assets until you repay back that loan.

So by that, we cannot borrow from Infrastructure Ontario.

MR. AIKEN:  You mentioned -- I think you mentioned a bond covenant.  Is that between --


MR. GRUE:  A trust indenture, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm sorry, the trust indenture.  That's between the holding company and Ottawa Limited; is that correct?

MR. GRUE:  With the holding company and the bondholders that -- a trustee.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Most of my questions have been answered, but I have a number of follow-ups.

With respect to the first three notes, in an answer to Mr. Aiken, you said that -- and I'm paraphrasing here - while they're technically callable on demand, for structural purposes they weren't meant to be, and that every year you provide a letter -- you provide a letter saying that they're not going to be called.  Is this --


MR. GRUE:  In the current year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And by "we", you're talking about Hydro Ottawa Limited sends a letter to the holding company?

MR. GRUE:  The holding company sends a letter to Hydro Ottawa Limited saying it would not call them within the next 366-day period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there is no legal reason for why it would have to do that?  There's no contractual obligation which says it has to send that letter and it has to have that term.  That's just a decision that it makes?

MR. GRUE:  Well, part of it is to support our audit of our financial statements that those debts are long-term liabilities.  And so our external auditors require that assurance that they will not be deemed short-term debt in the current year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second question is with respect to -- and if you can go to my compendium, I'm not sure if you...

On page 39, I think I actually have the chart that Mr. Aiken was referencing before, and he asked a number of questions.  My question firstly is:  For the issuance costs, why was there no issuance costs for the December 21st, 2009 and the April 30th, 2010 note, but there were for the others?

MR. GRUE:  Yes.  As I've stated, we have evolved our process to try to emulate, as much as possible, what a market-based debt issuance would look like.  We've adopted the Board methodology for the deemed rate calculation, and to that, as I say, over time, we've said the admin fee has always been there, those costs that have always been there.  But in emulating a true market-based debt issuance, the issuance costs should be there, as well, and will be incurred when we do an actual debt issuance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when coming to -- for both the issuance and administration costs, how did you reach that specific one-basis-point number?

MR. GRUE:  They are estimates at the best, because depending on the debt issuance and what's required, if you're going on a road show, if you need a new debt rating on it, et cetera, you know, that rate will fluctuate.

But we felt that ten basis points was conservative amount that was reasonable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But in the end, you're not -- so -- but you're not going to the market.  Did you at any point -- did Hydro Ottawa look at going to the market for those six issuances?

MR. GRUE:  When you say we're not going to the market, we will be going to market.  It's timing.  As I say, you need to have a nucleus to make it valid.  So your second part of the question, Did we look at issuing debt to the market?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you signed the promissory note, for each grid, for each issuance, did you look at that time for going into the market?

MR. GRUE:  We compare rate, as I say, to make sure that the rate we're using is valid, but we weren't anticipating going into the market at that time, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But why not?

MR. GRUE:  Why not?  Well, at $15 million, the market really isn't receptive to debt issuances under 50 or under 100 million.  So there's a pretty high premium to be paid to issue a $50 million tranche, whether it be accepted at all.  So that's part of the arrangement we have with the holding company, to be able to manage our long-term debt through smaller tranches without going through those extra costs that would be attached to a small debt issuance.

So when we're looking at $15 million tranches, we don't really place that into the market.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But did you think of packaging, instead of having six tranches of the 5 million, having two tranches of, you know, 45 million in going out?

MR. GRUE:  Well, I believe it's mentioned at the minimum - and I've been advised by more than one investment banker - it is 50 million.  They would certainly prefer $100 million before you get to the point where the investors or the purchasers of the bonds like the liquidity and the size of it.  Below that, you start paying a premium.

If you look at, I guess, the numbers here, we're coming close to that nucleus of numbers of approximately $100 million.  So we never really intend to go out at 40 or 50, because we feel there would be a premium to pay for that, which would end up going to the ratepayers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just going back to those issuance costs.

So instead of taking your -- more specifically, the administration costs which you're incurring, instead of -- why did Hydro Ottawa not -- in the way that they presented it, instead of having a one basis point added to all their promissory notes, why was it not calculated as a -- in operation, an OM&A cost for what the actuals are, not an estimate?

MR. GRUE:  I agree.  As I say, in many ways it would be easier if it were part of an SLA.

As I say, there are fixed costs around the rating agencies and some sort of subscription costs.  The other costs are internal, where there's time involved, which is usually through the allocation process and SLAs.

That's what happened in 2005.  We haven't changed that methodology, and we've continued with that 10 basis points for the administration costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Ms. Helt.

MS. HELT:  Board Staff has no questions.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Any redirect, Mr. Cass?
Re-Examination by Mr. Cass


MR. CASS:  I have just one question, Madam Chair.

Mr. Grue, I wonder if you could just take a minute.  There was a lot of discussion about issuance costs and administration costs.

Can you just explain the difference between the two, please?

MR. GRUE:  Sure.  The administration costs are ongoing costs that you incur, I'd say, otherwise, whether you're doing a debt issuance or not.

We need to pay, as I say, the rating agencies every year for their fees, our subscription fees, the time and efforts from executive, the travel costs, et cetera.  That's what goes into the admin costs.

So they're always there, whether you are issuing a debt that year or not.

The issuance costs are typically applicable to a debt issuance, and depending on that issuance, you might have to have a new debt rating.  You have legal costs.  You have underwriting costs from your investment bankers that issue the debt.

So those are costs that are attached specifically to the principal of that debt issuance.

So they are one-time costs, in a sense that -- when you issue the debt, but they'll be there, and so any debt issue, they will always be attached to that, versus the admin fees, which are more internal costs, but again, they are ongoing and are not necessarily related directly to a debt issuance.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That's my only re-examination question.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, panel.

So we're ready for panel number 4.  I don't know if you've got them separate into OM&A and the modified IFRS.  It's all the same panel?

MR. CASS:  It is, Madam Chair, yes.  We also are at a little earlier juncture this afternoon than we were expecting.  We had been thinking that this would come closer to the end time today.

And what we had thought might be good at that time would be to start the next panel first thing tomorrow morning, the reason for that being Ms. Scott's undertaking responses, and she is on that panel.

Now, it is earlier in the day than we were expecting to reach this point, but we did think it would be an efficient use of time if she could have some time to work on those undertaking responses.

MS. HARE:  My understanding is that Mr. Aiken would like to get his cross in today so that he can return home, and that Mr. Warren is not available tomorrow.  Is that the case?

MR. WARREN:  I have this difficulty, Madam Chair.  The Board has required that submissions be made on a motion that I filed to produce certain information in the CANDAS application.  In fact, it's supposed to be due today, and I've begged for time to deliver it tomorrow.

So if I have to be here tomorrow, then it's going to be a bit of a problem.  So that's why I would prefer to do it today.

MS. HARE:  And you, Mr. Aiken, would prefer to go today?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I would.

MS. HARE:  So, Mr. Cass, how about we take a break until 3:00 o'clock?  And we will allow, then, cross-examination of panel 4 by Mr. Aiken and Mr. Warren, and then we'll break for the day.

--- Recess taken at 2:42 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:13 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass, you can present your panel, please.


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Given the decision as to how to proceed today in order to make the best use of the time, this will be an OM&A panel.  The same people will later be a modified IFRS panel.

Just, again, to help the Board tie the issues together, the OM&A issue relates back to issue 4.1 in the main settlement document.  All of the witnesses here have already been sworn, Mr. Grue, Ms. Scott, Mr. Simpson and Mr. Bennett.

I will just take the opportunity to have them adopt all of the outstanding evidence, since we have them all here together at once.  It would be a good opportunity to get the evidence adopted, and then I'll have a couple of O&M questions.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass, just one question.  Just to confirm, my understanding is that Mr. Aiken and Mr. Warren do not have any questions about the modified IFRS, so it's just OM&A, thankfully.  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  [microphone not activated]


MS. HARE:  Thank you.
HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED - PANEL 4

William Bennett, Previously Sworn
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Examination by Mr. Cass

MR. CASS:  So, panel, aside from the evidence addressed by previous panels that has already been adopted, I understand that collectively you are responsible for the remainder of Hydro Ottawa's evidence, and it was prepared by you or under your direction and control; is that right?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  And are there any changes or updates to that evidence, including prefiled evidence and responses to interrogatories?

MS. SCOTT:  No.  No, there are no additional updates.

MR. CASS:  All right.  And can you adopt it as your evidence in this proceeding?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, we can.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Now, turning to you, if I may, Mr. Simpson, on the OM&A issue, can you give the Board, please, an overview of Hydro Ottawa's 2012 OM&A requirement?

MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly.  The 2012 test year OM&A requirement, as documented in the evidence, excluding property taxes, is $63.9 million, approximately, which is approximately 2.5 million or 4.2 percent net increase from the current 2011 bridge year.

So 2012 is a continuation of ongoing business from 2011, with necessary cost increases arising from a handful of items, the first being in the total compensation package for existing staff.  To begin with, there is a 3 percent economic increase effective March of 2012, which is as per our union collective agreement, and a 1 percent total compensation envelope increase for benefits, which includes the OMERS pension increases.

So greater than 1 percent increases on benefits alone, but in a total compensation perspective, about 1 percent.  So a 4 percent increase on existing compensation, which represents about $2.2 million.

Sixty percent of our gross OM&A costs are for compensation for labour.  Next, there are part-year impacts of 2011 hires, meaning continuing to pay for staff hired in 2011, where in 2011 we began part-year budgeting for new positions - that represents approximately 900,000 - and a general inflation provision of about 0.7 million.

Beyond that, beyond additional funding from 2011 for existing programs and existing staff, there is incremental funding for priority initiatives that have begun in 2011 or earlier, as noted throughout the evidence and as summarized in the cost driver table in Exhibit D1-1-2.

Those priority initiatives include our workforce strategy, our customer service strategy, an IT strategy and environmental sustainment strategy.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Just one other question on OM&A, Mr. Simpson.  You talked about the 2011 programs.  Can you provide a brief explanation of Hydro Ottawa's 2011 bridge year OM&A budget and related to the prior year actual experience, please?

MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly.  So the 2011 bridge year OM&A costs, this year's OM&A costs, have increased from 2010 primarily for three reasons.  One is one-time savings and cost reductions that were experienced in 2010 that do not carry forward to 2011 or the test year, 2012; similar to what I explained for '12, increased annual costs for ongoing programs and staffing levels; and additional funding for priority initiatives.

The actual experience in spending trend is presented in Exhibit D1-1-2, OM&A Summary and Cost Drivers.

So with regard to the 2010 actual experience, as was provided in Board Staff Interrogatory No. 32, there are a number of non-recurring, one-time expenditure reductions that were experienced in 2010.  One is that compensation savings overall were in excess of our vacancy allowance used at the time.  Our vacancy allowance is a reduction to our compensation budget on the expectation that there will be vacancies carried through the year.  And we had budgeted for 1 percent in 2010, and exceeded that by 2.1 million.

Second, there was a delay in the time-of-use rollout not entirely within Hydro Ottawa's control, which represents about $1.2 million.

And as one other notable one-time change, there was a one-time benefit in 2010 related to our bad debts expense, where we had changed our thresholds and methodology for the allowance for doubtful accounts in 2008 based on the economic situation at the time and the fact that we had lost one of our largest customers.

And that experience in 2010, we realized it could be reversed, and it was, which represented about 800,000.

So bad debt expense was very low in 2010 as a result of the accounting change.

It's also worth noting that our 2010 distribution revenue, excluding the smart meter adder that arose from the time-of-use spending lag, was below budget.  It was below budget by about $2.1 million at the end of the year.  And this had been forecast early in the year, because we saw the trend coming.

So as we reported to executive monthly and to audit committee and Board quarterly, there was a keen eye on fact that expenditure -- or revenue, our primary revenue, was underachieving for the year, which drove us to keeping an eye on controlling expenses.

And in the end, there was some one-time spending reductions in some discretionary areas, such as communications and training, and we don't believe those reductions are sustainable in the long term.

As we move forward to 2011, the OM&A budget's starting point was the 2010 actuals with the one-time adjustments added back in.  For example, time-of-use is now fully rolled out in 2011; plus, 2011 costs are impacted by the same sort of things I talked about for 2012 as far as ongoing programs, both for compensation, contract -- certain contract renewals, inflation.  Then beyond that the priority initiatives of the company did receive some incremental funding in 2011, including workforce strategy, customer service strategy, et cetera.

So with regard to our compensation costs, as I believe I mentioned earlier, from the experience we had in 2010 and even prior, related to vacancies, we changed our budgeting practice in 2011 as a result of the actual results we had in '10 and prior, and we've increased our vacancy allowance to 3 percent of total compensation from 1 percent, as we believe that's in line with our previous actual experience.

And we also began the practice of budgeting new hires, new incremental positions related to our key initiatives, on a part-year basis, so most on a half-year basis, and some even on a quarter-year basis, when it came to the apprentices.

In combination, this has reduced our 2011 OM&A request by about 1.7 million.

Our actual experience in 2011 is tracking very close to budget.  As was provided in Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 36, as at June 30, 2011, OM&A spending was up 3.6 million from 2010, or 13 percent.  And with regard to the 2011 bridge year as compared to our budget, we had spent about 97 percent as at the end of Q2.

All planned OM&A programs for 2011 are on budget and proceeding as planned.

So, in summary, the increase from prior-year actuals to next-year tests is a combination of one year -- one-time non-recurring savings that occurred in 2012, plus additional funding in '11, and then again in '12, for ongoing programs and some incremental funding for new initiatives.

MR. CASS:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  I believe Mr. Simpson may have said 2012 when he meant 2010, but I'm sure everyone noticed that.

MS. HARE:  Yes.  One-time reductions in 2010.

MR. SIMPSON:  My apologies.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren, will you go first?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

Panel, so that we can put some of these numbers in perspective, could you turn up an interrogatory response, which is, I believe, to Board Staff?  And it is Exhibit K4, Issue 4.1, Interrogatory No. 1.

Do you have it, panel?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  I want to see if I can understand the numbers.  The Board-approved number at the beginning of the last rebasing case was $55.3 million in OM&A; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it was, excluding property taxes.  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  All of my questions will exclude property taxes.

MR. SIMPSON:  All of my answers will do the same.

MR. WARREN:  Boy, I wish I could exclude property taxes generally, but that's a different matter.

[Laughter.]

MR. WARREN:  And then in 2008 actuals, there was a savings of approximately $1.5 million.  Have I read that number correctly?  Went down to 51.6, the actual numbers?

MR. SIMPSON:  Of 1.5 million?

MR. WARREN:  Roughly.  Sorry, more than that.  4.5, roughly?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah.

MR. BENNETT:  4.5.

MR. SIMPSON:  3.5 million.

MR. WARREN:  3.5 million.  There was a significant savings, though, going from 2008 approved to 2008 actuals; fair?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I want you to go forward, then, to 2010 actuals, which were $53.3 million; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  And then it goes a jump to -- of approximately $8 million to 2011.  Have I read that number correctly?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I -- if memory serves me correctly, for 2011, it had been Hydro Ottawa's proposal to the Board that that actually be a rebasing year, a proposal that was ultimately rejected by this Board; is that fair?

MR. SIMPSON:  It was deferred by the Board.

MR. WARREN:  Deferred?  Fair enough.

But it was your request and the Board didn't grant the request; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  And then we go from 2011, 61.3, to approximately 63.9 million this year, so the difference between the last rebasing year of 55.3, it's an approximately $8 million increase in that period; correct?  Have I got the numbers correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Approximately 8 million from 2012 back to 8 approved.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I don't know that you need to turn up this exhibit, but as I understand it, your FTEs in 2008, the rebasing year, were some 539, and that for 2012 the forecast is some 606; is that correct?

The exhibit, if you want the reference -- I don't know that you need to turn it up -- is Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1.

MR. SIMPSON:  I will turn it up, if you just give me a moment.

So the last rebasing year, full-time employees, 2008, was 529.  And the test year, 2012, is at 598.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  An increase of about 60 employees or thereabouts -- actually, 70 employees?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sixty-nine, to be exact, FTEs, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Am I right, panel, that the average customer growth forecast is about 1.5 percent?

MS. SCOTT:  Customer numbers, yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And if you could turn up -- actually, I don't know that you need to, but if you want to make sure that my memory is sound, Exhibit K5, Issue 5.1, Interrogatory No. 2 has your return on equity in the period 2008 to 2011 forecast.

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, is that coming up on screen?  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What was the interrogatory number?

MR. WARREN:  Exhibit K5, Issue 5.1, Interrogatory No. 2.

My question, panel, is a simple one:  That your allowed return on equity in the relevant period was 8.1 percent, and that in each of those years you have earned in excess of your allowed return on equity; is that fair?

MR. SIMPSON:  Just maybe, sorry, perhaps before we get to the question, the exhibit has been updated.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  I believe it's been distributed.  So K5-1-2 now presents the ROE both based on regulated distribution utility and the distribution utility, including non-regulated activities.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. SIMPSON:  So it was updated on October 31st.

MR. WARREN:  Is my proposition still correct, that you've earned in excess of your allowed return on equity in each of the relevant years?

MR. SIMPSON:  We have -- well, I'm not sure if everybody has this in front of them.

So from the updated exhibit, the return on equity, including -- is in 2008, 9.5 percent, 2009, 10.3, 2010, 8.8, and our 2011 forecast is at 8.4.

MR. WARREN:  For 2008 to 2010, am I right that you've earned in excess of your allowed return on equity for those three years?

MR. SIMPSON:  I believe our allowed return on equity is 8.57, so we earned more than that in '08 and '09, a little bit more in '10, and we're forecasting to be 8.4 percent for 2011.

MR. WARREN:  So my question was:  For 2008, 2009, 2010, you earned in excess of your allowed return on equity?  Yes or no?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if I could turn just from the data points that we've been discussing, which is an $8 million increase in ROE from 2008 to forecast 2012, an increase in employees of approximately 69, customer growth of 1.5 percent, and in three years you have earned in excess of your allowed return on equity, I want to go from those data points, panel, to some points of principle and see if you can agree with me.

Can you agree with me that one of the policy objectives of an incentive regulation regime is that the utility is allowed to make savings and keep those savings for its benefit during the incentive regulation period?  Would you agree with me that that is a policy objective?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Would you agree with me that a second policy objective of an incentive regulation regime is that savings obtained through the incentive regulation period are to go to the benefit of the ratepayers on the rebasing?  Would you agree with that policy proposition?

MS. SCOTT:  I'm not sure -- I don't agree that there's not -- that those savings are then refunded to the ratepayer.

MR. WARREN:  I didn't say they were refunded.

MS. SCOTT:  No, but you said to the benefit of.

MR. WARREN:  The benefit of the savings should accrue to the ratepayers on rebasing; would you agree with me on that policy?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  And would you agree with me that looking at the data points that we've looked at in the last few questions, that the shareholder has had the benefit of the savings achieved during the incentive regulation period, but that there are no obvious benefits in the form of savings that are accruing to the ratepayers on rebasing?  Would you agree with that proposition?


MR. SIMPSON:  The benefits of the savings, as I mentioned in examination-in-chief, within each year, specifically '10, and then similarly in '09 and '08, arose from one-time, non-recurring items; could be different ones each year.  Then the ROEs achieved were, I suppose, beyond our regulated rate at the time, but certainly for 2010 not significantly.

And some of the benefits that were achieved no longer appear in 2011.  The spending has progressed.  The time-of-use savings which occurred in '10 and '09, and even '08, are now occurring.  We've changed our budgeting practice in order to pick up some of those differences.

I think we've done what we can in order to ensure that the ratepayer is -- that our programs are properly funded, and that if there is a benefit to the ratepayer that does still exist, for example, from compensation savings, we've adjusted our processes and our practices related to how we budget for them in order to factor that in.

MR. WARREN:  I'm not sure, cutting through that answer, panel, whether you agree with my proposition or not, so let me see if I can simplify it and try it one more time.

Would you agree with me that looking at the data points which we reviewed in the first series of questions I asked and you answered, that whatever savings that were achieved during the IRM period are not now accruing to the benefit of the ratepayers?  Yes or no?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, in the sense that the savings that were achieved in the IRM period no longer exist in the bridge year, and ultimately the test year.

MR. WARREN:  You would agree with me, I take it, panel, that the savings that were achieved in the incentive regulation period did accrue to the benefit of the shareholder during the incentive regulation period?  You would agree with that, would you not?

MR. SIMPSON:  To the extent that the ROE was beyond that that was deemed.  However, that was -- it's entirely in that answer, in that the OM&A savings did not entirely accrue to the shareholder as we're in a period, as I'd noted, where our distribution revenue was underachieving.

MR. WARREN:  I have a number of just specific detail questions, panel, if I could.

Exhibit K4, this is issue 4.1, Interrogatory No. 6.

This deals with the fascinating question of vegetation management, one I'm sure that keeps you up nights.

If you look at the answer to the interrogatory, panel, and you talk about a new contract or, as I understand it, you're talking about a new contract, and you talk about the final contract costs are immaterially different from those included in the 2012 budget.

What's not clear to me is:  Did the new contract result in savings from the previous vegetation management contract?  And, if so, what's the size of the savings?

MR. BENNETT:  The -- without going through all of the information that was provided through this process, there's two contractors -- there were two contractors in the City of Ottawa working on our behalf.  One contractor worked in the suburban area on a three-year cycle.  The other contractor had the urban area on a two-year cycle.

It was six year -- each had a six-year contract.  After three years, the contractor working in the urban area decided to withdraw their services.  They were losing money on the deal, they felt, and they couldn't carry on doing the work.  They carried on, in an effort to assist us, on a time and material basis for the first part of the year for 2011.

Meanwhile, we went back to the other contractor and said would they be interested in holding their price that they initially bid on that work.  And after significant discussion and negotiation, they agreed to, basically, hold their price, with some increases, annual inflationary increases, and took over the contract for the remaining period of the contract.

So were there savings?  No, there were no savings in the process, but we now have a contractor that -- and at the estimated values that we put for 2012, who is doing the work within that estimated level.

MR. WARREN:  So the costs are the same, roughly?

MR. BENNETT:  It's actually -- well, for 2011, it's cost us -- we have two major differences, I would say.  There's about $300,000 worth of storm activity.  We had a very windy year this year.  It blew down stages at Bluesfest, et cetera, et cetera.  It was about $300,000 more than our budgeted amount, and we were about $200,000 increase in the overall contracted amount based on the renegotiated contract.

MR. WARREN:  Could I then turn to the issue of regulatory costs?  And if you could turn up Exhibit K4, issue 4.1, Interrogatory No. 4?

And I'm looking at, on that exhibit, three line items, numbers 5, 6 and 11, 5 being legal costs for regulatory matters, and number 6 consultant costs for regulatory matters, and intervenor costs.

Now, if I add up those three categories for the bridge year and the test year, and if you can take these numbers subject to check, that for the bridge year, the total of those three categories is some $531,000, and the total for the test year is some $572,000.  If you take those numbers subject to check, panel, a third principle, I thought, or more accurately a practical effect of an incentive regulation regime, would you not agree, is to reduce regulatory costs over the period of the incentive regulation regime?

Would you agree with me that as -- if you wish, either as a policy or a principle or as a goal, that that's true, because you're not coming in here annually for cost of service applications?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct, but we are still working on studies for cost of service applications in future years.  We are also involved in other hearings.  So the legal costs are not just for a cost-of-service hearing.

So in an effort to equalize our costs for regulatory, we do look at putting -- if we have to do lead-lag studies again, or loss -- distribution losses studies, trying to do those in the intervening years between cost of service applications.

MR. WARREN:  Would you not agree with me, Ms. Scott, that at least it's counterintuitive to the principle I've expressed that you have for each of the -- in your rebasing, for each of the three years of your incentive regulation regime, regulatory costs that will be higher than those incurred in your rebasing year?  Does that not strike you as counterintuitive to the principle I've talked about?

MS. SCOTT:  Absolutely not.  In the intervening years, we are preparing for that cost of service test year.  And the costs don't occur typically in the test year.  They occur beforehand.

MR. WARREN:  Finally, you've referred to smart meters, and, as I understand the evidence, panel, smart meters are now fully deployed in Ottawa's service territory; is that right?

MS. SCOTT:  For all intents and purposes, the majority of smart meters are installed.  We have a few hundred difficult to reach ones, and most of the customers have moved over to -- we're in the process of moving the final customers over to time-of-use rates.

MR. WARREN:  And can you tell me what savings you forecast achieving as a result of the full deployment of the smart meter system?

MR. SIMPSON:  The smart meter implementation costs for purposes of communications, training and some others, are reduced in 2012 by $600,000.

MR. WARREN:  And those are -- that's the extent of the savings you achieve over the IRM period, $600,000 annually?  Or will there be greater savings in OM&A costs as a result of the full deployment of smart meters?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, that's what's projected as a reduction in 2012, and that would just carry on beyond that.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Aiken, can you proceed, please?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken

MR. AIKEN:  I would if I could.  There we go.

Thank you, Madam Chair.

Panel, could you turn to page 42 of the compendium, Exhibit M1.4?

At page 42, you'll find a summary of the OM&A expenses, excluding property taxes, along with the graphical representation of the figures.

First, do you accept that these figures are correct, subject to check?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, that's accepted.

MR. AIKEN:  Why did Hydro Ottawa underspend by 6.7 percent or more than 3.7 million in 2008, compared to the Board-approved figure?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, for 2008, it may be best to move to the exhibit that covers that, and we could work through some of the highlights.

I just need to find it now.  Which is Exhibit D2-1-1, 2008 approved versus '08 actual.

So within that exhibit, some of the highlights as to why that was the case was, perhaps, first on page 3 of 7, towards the bottom, the rate year did not commence until May 1st, so the Board approval for the 2008 rates did not occur until the second quarter of 2008, which resulted in some delay in waiting for the revenue to be secured before it was -- before it was spent.  And that carried forward for the year.

There was at that time -- moving to page 4, second paragraph from the bottom -- there was a savings in the vegetation management program at that time, as the -- increased the trim cycle from three years to two.

Moving to page 5, second paragraph from the top, meter expense was down significantly from the plan, because a number of new meters in the system did not require resealing or repairs.

Maintenance, it says, was essentially on.

There was a bad debt expense -- again, I'm moving to slide -- or, sorry, page 6 of the exhibit now -- referencing that billing and collections was 1.3 million lower than anticipated.  There was approximately a 551 of this relating to a reduction in bad-debt expense in that year.

And perhaps most notably -- on the last page, again -- there was -- administrative and general expenses were almost a million lower than approved, related to higher than planned capital cost recovery, and I would also say some of the compensation vacancies that we saw at that time.

And in fact, at that time we didn't budget for a vacancy allowance whatsoever.

The other point I would make once again, similar to some of the discussion in the other years, was that even for 2008, our distribution revenue achievement as compared to plan and compared to budget was not achieved.  It was approximately, subject to check, about a $2 million reduction in our revenue from what we'd planned in the budget, which again led to some management of discretionary costs through the year.

MR. AIKEN:  Looking at the graph on page 42, your OM&A expenditures in both 2009 and 2010 were also substantially below the 2008 Board-approved figure.

What were the drivers in those years?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, perhaps I'll start with 2010, and as -- maybe just first for the benefit of the Panel -- or the Board, make the point that as we'd highlighted in Exhibit -- or, sorry, Interrogatory K4-1-1, which was raised earlier, Board Staff No. 33, we did budget on the OM&A side in 2010 for 59.6 million.  So the plan had been to spend 59.6 million.

And then what we saw in 2010 was some compensation vacancies beyond our vacancy allowance at the time of one percent.  We saw the deferral of the time-of-use rollout for about 1.2 million.  We saw a very significant benefit, if you will, to the bottom line on our bad debts, which was essentially the reversal of an accounting change that we'd implemented in 2008, based on some economic factors.  That represented about a million.

And then as it goes on in that -- in the response to that interrogatory, there was also some one-time savings in consulting, communications and training, which was primarily driven by the fact that our distribution revenue in 2010 was underachieved.

MR. AIKEN:  Hydro Ottawa is forecasting an increase of about 20 percent, or $10.5 million, between 2010 and the test year.

When was the last time that Hydro Ottawa had an increase of this magnitude in OM&A expense over a two-year period?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't have all that history with me here today.  Certainly not in the five years that we're reviewing here today.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that in comparing the 2012 forecast with 2010 actuals, you almost have to go at it line by line on the figures shown on page 42?

And what I mean by that is, if we start with the maintenance expenses, for example, the -- or, sorry, the operations expenses.  They seem to be relatively floor, even after 2010.  There are small increases, and then followed by a decrease in 2012.

But for maintenance, the maintenance starts in 2008 at 5.2 million, is 5.7 in 2010, then we have a big jump in the bridge and test years.

What is driving the increase in the maintenance costs?

MR. SIMPSON:  The maintenance program, as I'm just referring -- sorry, I'm just referring to Exhibit D2-1-4, which is the comparison of 2011 bridge year budget versus 2010 actuals.

And within the maintenance area -- I just want to make sure I'm pick up the right area here -- there is increases related to the vegetation management contract being renewed, as mentioned earlier.

There are compensation expenses that increase, including the hiring of additional apprentices out of our workforce program in order to prepare for upcoming retirements.

 Oh, and there's also a reclassification issue there, which is just being pointed out, which is a good one.

If you look at -- which is now on screen, I see.  USofA 5135, that is now picking up in the '11 budget our vegetation management contract, which was in, I believe -- in operations before.  So a reclassification there.  Yeah, it was under operations.

At the USofA level, it's not my specialty, quite honestly, but where there are reclasses in those, they can sometimes skew the numbers.

From an overall perspective, you know, the increases are as I've mentioned, but there is in this case, if you want to get right down to the USofA categories, a reallocation that occurred in -- for the bridge year budget, related to our vegetation management.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then the next line, "Billing and collecting," those costs have actually been declining between 2008 and 2010, and now there's a -- for 2011, there's a significant increase of about 2.8 million, with a small increase after that.

Is this related to smart meters?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm sorry, which group are you looking at now?

MR. AIKEN:  Billing and collecting.  It fell between 2008 to 2010, and now there's a $2.8 million increase in the bridge year.

MR. SIMPSON:  Maybe I'll expand on the answer, but the primary increase there from '10 to '11 relating to meter reading expense where, with the rollout of smart meters, our actual meter reading expense has declined, as we no longer need to do meter reading.

And as noted on page 5 of D2-1-4, with the effort that's been concentrated on the deployment of smart meters, there's been a high proportion of labour costs that have been allocated to capital.  And with that substantially complete now, smart meters that were first deployed at the onset are now five years old, and the technician crews on an operating basis are now turning back to maintenance efforts on the smart-meter meter maintenance activities.

MR. AIKEN:  So some of this was deferred meter maintenance, because the people were busy installing the meters, the smart meters?

MR. SIMPSON:  And with new meters going in, there was less requirement for meter maintenance.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, okay.

The next line, "community relations", again, these figures were relatively stable between 2008 and 2010, but then between 2010 and 2012 there's a $2 million increase.

What's the driving factor behind that change?

MR. SIMPSON:  The primary increase, it actually began in 2010.  As you'll see, there's about a $400,000 increase in there, is the launch of our customer service strategic plan, which is one of our priority initiatives.  As documented in the evidence, it really began in 2009 with some consultant's study and recommendations, and began being funded and rolled out in 2010 and into 2011, and even next year for 2012 and the test year.

So that added to the -- it's classified, from a USofA perspective, under community relations and is primarily the reason for the increase there, is our customer service strategy to improve relations and customer experience.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I'm going to stop talking about the specific numbers for a minute.

When did Hydro Ottawa receive approval from its board of directors for the OM&A forecast for the 2012 test year included in this application?

MR. SIMPSON:  The OM&A forecast specifically with the board of directors, there was -- the board of directors received a preliminary look with the approval of the 2011 budget, which occurred in February of this year.  But subsequent to that, our efforts in preparing the rate application continued, and there is no doubt some changes in the OM&A request, as there is with just about everything.  And there's been subsequent updates to our board.

I don't have at my fingertips the exact time, but I believe they're in the evidence as to when the Board has been updated on the status of our rate application.

As far as specific numbers related to what the 2012 budget will look like for Hydro Ottawa, the 2012 budget process is, of course, not complete.

MR. AIKEN:  So you have not received Board approval -- sorry, board of director approval for the 2012 forecast at this point in time?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SIMPSON:  Internally, our Board has approved the full suite of the package of the rate application.  Specifically, did they see an OM&A figure?  Subject to check, I don't think so.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  When did you get Board of director approval for the 2011 OM&A forecast?  Is that the February time frame you mentioned earlier?

MR. SIMPSON:  Board approval of the 2011 budget was February of this year.

MR. AIKEN:  And that budget that you got approved on the OM&A side is reflected in the $61.3 million shown in the application as your bridge year forecast?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I'm turning to the issue of OM&A cost per customer.  So if you could turn to page 43 of the compendium, this is table 4 from Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2.

And the question is really whether you can provide an update to this table.  Let me run through the three things that I would like updated and see if you can provide that.

First, could you add a column to reflect 2007 data so we can calculate percent changes in 2008?

Second, can you change the total OM&A figures to reflect total OM&A excluding property taxes, so that we continue to talk about everything excluding property taxes?

And, third, can you update the number of customers to reflect the change in the forecast related to suite metering, as well as the changes agreed to in the settlement agreement?  So that would affect the bridge and test year number of customers.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. HELT:  That will then be undertaking L1.7 (sic), to provide an update as described by Mr. Aiken, and specifically Table 4 on page 43 of Energy Probe's compendium, which is marked as Exhibit M1.7 -- or 1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. L1.8:  TO PROVIDE UPDATE TO TABLE 4 ON PAGE 43 OF ENERGY PROBE'S CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM, EXHIBIT M1.4.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, just staying with this table, table 4, this table shows that in 2008 and 2009 -- or, sorry, yes, 2009, 2010, and even into 2011, the number of FTEs relatively stable.  In fact, the 2009 and 2011 numbers are less than one FTE apart. But then we have the increase in the test year to 592.


Can you tell me what the increase in the total OM&A is associated with the compensation associated with these -- I think it's 34 additional FTEs, or, if that is already in the evidence some place, where I could find it?

MS. SCOTT:  Just while Mr. Simpson is looking for that, can I just confirm the undertaking number, because I thought I had an LT1.7 --


MS. HELT:  No, you're correct.  We just noticed that it should be L1.8.  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  Just with reference to your specific question on the FTE increase from '11 to '12, I guess I'll turn you to Exhibit D3-1-1, our employee compensation breakdown, and table 3 on page 6 offers the bridge from the '11 to '12 test year -- from the bridge year to the test year.  Excuse me, the term "bridge" is in there twice.

And these are high-level buckets, but essentially what you'll see is we did have a transfer of 17 positions, so, really, no net increase in costs, but we did transfer 17 positions from the holding company to Hydro Ottawa Limited, or we plan to for 2012, which represents about 2.5 million or 4.5 percent.  And that's 17 FTEs in itself, not new FTEs to the consolidated companies, but new to Hydro Ottawa Limited, which skews that number to some degree.

You'll see the $2.2 million economic adjustment at 4 percent on total compensation, and then within the "workforce planning" column there, it's about 2 million, or 3.6 percent, from the previous year.

So total annual compensation to 62 from 55, or about 12.1 percent, four percent of that made up of ongoing staff in their positions, on an ongoing basis.

The workforce planning with -- which -- and I'll just also mention those numbers include the full-year effect of the part-year budgeting that we've implemented in 2011.  So it's a part-year budgeting for new positions in '12, but also the full-year effect of picking up the '11 part year's, which includes apprentices, which just started in the fourth quarter of this year, to come to the 2012 test budget.

So that's not necessarily an FTE reconciliation.  We could go through that, but I'm not sure if that covers your question.

MR. AIKEN:  No, this is good enough, yes.

But while we're on Exhibit 3, tab D, schedule 1, if you could pull up attachment AC to that, and my question is table 4 that we were looking at before shows an increase in FTEs from 558 in 2011 to 592 in 2012; that's the increase of 34.  But attachment AC shows it going from 557 to 598, an increase of 41.

Can you explain the difference in these figures?

The 2011 number is close, being a difference of one.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah.  I may need to go back and verify, but often with the FTEs, and –- it could be that one includes temporaries and the other doesn't; it could be that the CDM-type positions are in one and not the other.

I would have to take it back and verify the reconciliation between these two specifically.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  If you could do that, and maybe that would be part of the previous undertaking, so that when you provide a revised table 4, if those numbers have to be changed, you can add the explanation of the changes.

MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly.

MS. HELT:  That will, then, be included in L1.8.

MR. AIKEN:  And those are my questions.  Thank you.
Procedural Matters


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Before we break for the day, then, I would like to discuss schedule going forward.

Mr. Cass, it's my understanding that you would be prepared to do oral argument-in-chief tomorrow afternoon, on the assumption that panel 4 is done by, say, lunchtime or early afternoon?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I think I could manage that, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  All right.  Then I'd like to propose other dates, and if it turns out that panel 4 actually takes longer and we have to adjust, we'll do that.

But on the assumption that you can do oral argument-in-chief tomorrow, we're proposing that Staff's submissions would be due on November 18th and intervenors' submissions on the 22nd of November, with reply on the 29th.

Are there any comments or concerns with those dates?

MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, perhaps also we could address having the undertakings answered by Friday, November the 11th, if that would be acceptable?

MS. HARE:  Yes.  Thank you.

I see, Mr. Cass, you're conferring with your client.  We can pick this up first thing in the morning when you've had more time to think about it, but for now, those would be the proposed dates.  Okay?

Thank you.  We're adjourned for the day.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:08 p.m.
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